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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Consolidated Financial Statements

ARGO GROUP INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS, LTD.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in millions, except number of shares and per share amounts)

September 30, 
2021

December 31, 
2020

 (Unaudited)  
Assets  

Investments:   
Fixed maturities available-for-sale, at fair value (cost: 2021 - $4,145.2, 2020 - $3,981.1; allowance for expected credit losses: 2021 - $7.0, 2020 - $6.6) $ 4,197.3 $ 4,107.1 

Equity securities, at fair value (cost: 2021 - $131.1; 2020 - $162.5) 181.8 176.7 

Other investments (cost: 2021 - $425.8; 2020 - $429.4) 425.8 429.4 

Short-term investments, at fair value (cost: 2021 - $507.8; 2020 - $541.4) 508.6 542.6 
Total investments 5,313.5 5,255.8 
Cash 202.0 148.8 
Accrued investment income 20.9 21.8 
Premiums receivable 701.9 679.8 
Reinsurance recoverables 2,954.0 3,009.0 
Goodwill 147.3 147.3 
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization 60.5 60.5 
Current income taxes receivable, net 3.8 3.0 
Deferred tax asset, net 42.8 16.7 
Deferred acquisition costs, net 175.7 163.6 
Ceded unearned premiums 572.1 575.1 
Operating lease right-of-use assets 87.7 82.0 
Other assets 231.4 294.7 
Assets held for sale 4.5 7.7 

Total assets $ 10,518.1 $ 10,465.8 
Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity

Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses $ 5,439.5 $ 5,406.0 
Unearned premiums 1,540.2 1,464.8 
Accrued underwriting expenses and other liabilities 255.2 167.6 
Ceded reinsurance payable, net 763.8 950.4 
Funds held 74.2 64.7 
Senior unsecured fixed rate notes 140.3 140.2 
Other indebtedness 58.7 60.7 
Junior subordinated debentures 258.1 257.8 
Operating lease liabilities 100.5 95.8 

Total liabilities 8,630.5 8,608.0 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 14)
Shareholders' equity:

Preferred shares and additional paid-in capital - $1.00 par, 30,000,000 shares authorized; 6,000 shares issued at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively; liquidation preference $25,000 144.0 144.0 

Common shares - $1.00 par, 500,000,000 shares authorized; 46,178,719 and 46,009,966 shares issued at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively 46.2 46.0 
Additional paid-in capital 1,385.0 1,380.2 

Treasury shares (11,315,889 shares at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively) (455.1) (455.1)
Retained earnings 765.5 684.1 
Accumulated other comprehensive income, net of taxes 2.0 58.6 

Total shareholders' equity 1,887.6 1,857.8 
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity $ 10,518.1 $ 10,465.8 

See accompanying notes.
3



Table of Contents

ARGO GROUP INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS, LTD.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (LOSS)

(in millions, except number of shares and per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

 

 
For the Three Months Ended 

September 30,
For the Nine Months Ended 

September 30,
 2021 2020 2021 2020

Premiums and other revenue:   
Earned premiums $ 487.5 $ 445.5 $ 1,423.9 $ 1,313.9 
Net investment income 46.1 42.0 143.2 79.0 
Net realized investment gains (losses):

Net realized investment gains (losses) 0.6 (5.7) 3.3 32.7 
Change in fair value of equity securities (5.1) 10.5 30.7 (13.7)
Credit losses on fixed maturity securities (0.8) (10.5) (1.5) (43.0)

Net realized investment (losses) gains (5.3) (5.7) 32.5 (24.0)
Total revenue 528.3 481.8 1,599.6 1,368.9 
Expenses:

Losses and loss adjustment expenses 311.7 328.9 890.9 883.0 
Underwriting, acquisition and insurance expenses 177.1 161.9 530.8 489.8 
Non-operating expenses 8.2 3.0 20.9 9.8 
Interest expense 5.5 6.9 16.3 21.7 
Fee and other (income) expense, net (1.1) (0.8) (1.8) (2.7)
Foreign currency exchange (gains) losses (1.3) 8.4 4.4 13.6 

Total expenses 500.1 508.3 1,461.5 1,415.2 
Income (loss) before income taxes 28.2 (26.5) 138.1 (46.3)
Income tax provision (benefit) 5.8 (3.4) 16.1 6.9 
Net income (loss) $ 22.4 $ (23.1) $ 122.0 $ (53.2)
Dividends on preferred shares 2.6 2.0 7.9 2.0
Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders $ 19.8 $ (25.1) $ 114.1 $ (55.2)

Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders per common share:
Basic $ 0.57 $ (0.72) $ 3.28 $ (1.60)

Diluted $ 0.56 $ (0.72) $ 3.26 $ (1.60)

Dividend declared per common share $ 0.31 $ 0.31 $ 0.93 $ 0.93 
Weighted average common shares:

Basic 34,854,724 34,667,266 34,796,528 34,590,659 

Diluted 35,036,700 34,667,266 35,062,416 34,590,659 

 
See accompanying notes.
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ARGO GROUP INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS, LTD.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

(in millions)
(Unaudited)

 
For the Three Months Ended 

September 30,
For the Nine Months Ended 

September 30,
 2021 2020 2021 2020

Net income (loss) $ 22.4 $ (23.1) $ 122.0 $ (53.2)
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Foreign currency translation adjustments (2.3) (4.7) 0.2 (12.3)
Defined benefit pension plans:

Net gain arising during the year — — 1.9 — 
Unrealized gains (losses) on fixed maturity securities:

(Losses) gains arising during the year (31.5) 38.2 (60.3) 68.3 
Reclassification adjustment for losses (gains) included in net income 8.2 4.5 (11.0) (15.4)

Other comprehensive income (loss) before tax (25.6) 38.0 (69.2) 40.6 
Income tax provision related to other comprehensive income (loss):

Defined benefit pension plans:
Net gain arising during the year — — 0.4 — 

Unrealized gains (losses) on fixed maturity securities:
(Losses) gains arising during the year (4.8) 6.5 (11.1) 12.4 
Reclassification adjustment for losses (gains) included in net income 0.4 0.5 (1.9) (0.2)

Income tax (benefit) provision related to other comprehensive income (loss) (4.4) 7.0 (12.6) 12.2 
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax (21.2) 31.0 (56.6) 28.4 
Comprehensive income (loss) $ 1.2 $ 7.9 $ 65.4 $ (24.8)

 
See accompanying notes.
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ARGO GROUP INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS, LTD.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(in millions, except number of shares and per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

 
Preferred Shares and

Additional Paid-in Capital
Common 

Shares

Additional 
Paid-In 
Capital

Treasury 
Shares

Retained 
Earnings

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income (Loss)

Shareholders' 
Equity

Balance, June 30, 2020 $ — $ 46.0 $ 1,376.5 $ (455.1) $ 734.4 $ 5.9 $ 1,707.7 
Net loss — — — — (23.1) — (23.1)
Preferred shares issued 144.0 — — — — — 144.0 
Other comprehensive income - Change in fair value of fixed maturities, net of

taxes — — — — — 35.7 35.7 
Other comprehensive loss, net - Other — — — — — (4.7) (4.7)
Activity under stock incentive plans — — 1.5 — — — 1.5 
Retirement of common shares (tax payments on equity compensation) — — (0.1) — — — (0.1)
Employee stock purchase plan — — 0.6 — — — 0.6 
Dividends on preferred shares — — — — (2.0) — (2.0)
Cash dividend declared - common shares ($0.31/share) — — — — (10.9) — (10.9)
Balance, September 30, 2020 $ 144.0 $ 46.0 $ 1,378.5 $ (455.1) $ 698.4 $ 36.9 $ 1,848.7 

Balance, June 30, 2021 $ 144.0 $ 46.2 $ 1,383.1 $ (455.1) $ 756.5 $ 23.2 $ 1,897.9 
Net income — — — — 22.4 — 22.4 
Other comprehensive income - Change in fair value of fixed maturities, net of

taxes — — — — — (18.9) (18.9)
Other comprehensive income, net - Other — — — — — (2.3) (2.3)
Activity under stock incentive plans — — 1.5 — — — 1.5 
Retirement of common shares (tax payments on equity compensation) — — (0.1) — — — (0.1)
Employee stock purchase plan — — 0.5 — — — 0.5 
Dividends on preferred shares — — — — (2.6) — (2.6)
Cash dividend declared - common shares ($0.31/share) — — — — (10.8) — (10.8)

Balance, September 30, 2021 $ 144.0 $ 46.2 $ 1,385.0 $ (455.1) $ 765.5 $ 2.0 $ 1,887.6 

See accompanying notes.
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ARGO GROUP INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS, LTD.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (continued)

(in millions, except number of shares and per share amounts)
(Unaudited) 

 
Preferred Shares and

Additional Paid-in Capital
Common 

Shares

Additional 
Paid-In 
Capital

Treasury 
Shares

Retained 
Earnings

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income (Loss)

Shareholders' 
Equity

Balance, December 31, 2019 $ — $ 45.7 $ 1,376.6 $ (455.1) $ 793.7 $ 2.8 $ 1,763.7 
Net loss — — — — (53.2) — (53.2)
Preferred shares issued 144.0 — — — — — 144.0 
Other comprehensive income - Change in fair value of fixed maturities, net of taxes — — — — — 40.7 40.7 
Other comprehensive loss, net - Other — — — — — (12.3) (12.3)
Activity under stock incentive plans — 0.4 6.4 — — — 6.8 
Retirement of common shares (tax payments on equity compensation) — (0.1) (6.5) — — — (6.6)
Employee stock purchase plan — — 2.0 — — — 2.0 
Dividends on preferred shares — — — — (2.0) — (2.0)
Cash dividend declared - common shares ($0.93/share) — — — — (32.2) — (32.2)
Cumulative effect of adoption of ASU 2016-13, net of taxes $ — $ — $ — $ — $ (7.9) $ 5.7 (2.2)

Balance, September 30, 2020 $ 144.0 $ 46.0 $ 1,378.5 $ (455.1) $ 698.4 $ 36.9 $ 1,848.7 

Balance, December 31, 2020 $ 144.0 $ 46.0 $ 1,380.2 $ (455.1) $ 684.1 $ 58.6 $ 1,857.8 
Net income — — — — 122.0 — 122.0 
Other comprehensive loss - change in fair value of fixed maturities, net of taxes — — — — — (58.3) (58.3)
Other comprehensive income, net - other — — — — — 1.7 1.7 
Activity under stock incentive plans — 0.2 5.8 — — — 6.0 
Retirement of common shares (tax payments on equity compensation) — — (2.5) — — — (2.5)
Employee stock purchase plan — — 1.5 — — — 1.5 
Dividends on preferred shares — — — — (7.9) — (7.9)
Cash dividend declared - common shares ($0.93/share) — — — — (32.7) — (32.7)
Balance, September 30, 2021 $ 144.0 $ 46.2 $ 1,385.0 $ (455.1) $ 765.5 $ 2.0 $ 1,887.6 

See accompanying notes.
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ARGO GROUP INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS, LTD.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in millions)
(Unaudited)

   
 For the Nine Months Ended September 30,
 2021 2020

Cash flows from operating activities:   
Net income (loss) $ 122.0 $ (53.2)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:

Amortization and depreciation 28.5 24.7 
Share-based payments expense 6.4 7.7 
Deferred income tax benefit, net (14.4) (16.5)
Net realized investment (gains) losses (32.5) 24.0 
Undistributed earnings from alternative investment portfolio (74.8) 1.6 
Loss on disposals of long-lived assets, net 1.7 0.4 

Change in:
Accrued investment income 0.9 3.5 
Receivables 30.2 (67.4)
Deferred acquisition costs (12.0) (11.7)
Ceded unearned premiums 2.3 (120.5)
Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses 36.5 267.6 
Unearned premiums 77.3 176.8 
Ceded reinsurance payable and funds held (176.3) (104.2)
Income taxes (1.0) (22.2)
Accrued underwriting expenses and other liabilities 42.5 (0.8)
Other, net 3.5 (8.4)

Cash provided by (used in) operating activities 40.8 101.4 
Cash flows from investing activities:

Sales of fixed maturity investments 786.4 977.5 
Maturities and mandatory calls of fixed maturity investments 591.1 410.3 
Sales of equity securities 36.9 18.2 
Sales of other investments 81.1 95.5 
Purchases of fixed maturity investments (1,511.9) (1,659.3)
Purchases of equity securities (5.3) (68.3)
Purchases of other investments (40.1) (24.5)
Change in foreign regulatory deposits and voluntary pools 36.2 (0.5)
Change in short-term investments 32.3 297.8 
Settlements of foreign currency exchange forward contracts (9.7) 9.1 
Proceeds from sale of Trident assets — 38.0 
Sale (Purchases) of fixed assets, net 16.0 (15.8)
Other, net 37.6 2.7 

Cash (used in) provided by investing activities 50.6 80.7 
Cash flows from financing activities:

Payment of long-term debt — (125.0)
Issuance of preferred shares, net of issuance costs — 144.0 
Activity under stock incentive plans 1.2 1.4 
Payment of cash dividends to preferred shareholders (7.9) (2.0)
Payment of cash dividends to common shareholders (32.7) (32.2)

Cash used in financing activities (39.4) (13.8)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 1.2 (5.7)
Change in cash 53.2 162.6 
Cash, beginning of year 148.8 137.8 
Cash, end of period $ 202.0 $ 300.4 

 See accompanying notes.
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ARGO GROUP INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS, LTD.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

1.    Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Argo Group International Holdings, Ltd. and its subsidiaries (“Argo Group,” “Argo,” “we,” “us,” “our” or the “Company”) have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) for interim
financial information and with the instructions for Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Argo Group is an underwriter of specialty insurance products in the property and casualty market.

The preparation of interim financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The major estimates reflected in our consolidated financial statements include, but are not limited to, reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses; reinsurance recoverables, including the reinsurance recoverables allowance for
expected credit losses; estimates of written and earned premiums; reinsurance premium receivable; fair value of investments and assessment of potential impairment, including the allowance for credit losses on fixed maturity securities; valuation of goodwill and intangibles and our deferred tax
asset valuation allowance. Actual results could materially differ from those estimates. Certain financial information that is normally included in annual financial statements, including certain financial statement footnotes, prepared in accordance with GAAP, is not required for interim reporting
purposes and has been condensed or omitted. These statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
("SEC") on March 15, 2021.

The interim financial information as of, and for, the three and nine months ended, September 30, 2021 and 2020 is unaudited. However, in the opinion of management, the interim information includes all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring accruals, necessary for a fair presentation of
the results presented for the interim periods.  The operating results  for the interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results  to be expected for the full  year.  All  significant  intercompany amounts have been eliminated in consolidation.  Certain reclassifications have been made to
financial information presented for prior years to conform to the current year’s presentation.

Update on Trident Transaction

On April 30, 2020, we sold our Trident Public Risk Solutions (“Trident”) brand and underwriting platform. During the second quarter of 2021, the parties to the transaction agreed to amend the transaction and other related agreements associated with the sale of Trident to eliminate certain lines
of business from the transaction. As a result, we recognized a $16.5 million reduction in the original gain on sale during the second quarter of 2021. Additionally, we recognized a $5.0 million gain during the second quarter of 2021 related to meeting certain post-closing performance conditions.
This transaction is included in "Net realized investment gains (losses)" in our Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) for the nine months ended September 30, 2021.

2.    Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

The Company has evaluated recently issued accounting pronouncements and determined none are material to our results of operations or financial position reported herein.

3.    Investments

Included in “Total investments” in our Consolidated Balance Sheets at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020 is $97.1 million and $140.3 million, respectively, of assets managed on behalf of the trade capital providers, who are third-party participants that provide underwriting capital to
the operations of Syndicates 1200 and 1910.
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Fixed Maturities

The amortized cost, gross unrealized gains, gross unrealized losses, allowance for credit losses, and fair value of fixed maturity investments were as follows: 
September 30, 2021

(in millions)
Amortized 

Cost

Gross 
Unrealized 

Gains

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses Allowance for Credit Losses
Fair 
Value

Fixed maturities
U.S. Governments $ 404.8 $ 7.5 $ 2.1 $ — $ 410.2 
Foreign Governments 229.3 2.7 2.7 0.2 229.1 
Obligations of states and political subdivisions 169.9 6.7 0.9 — 175.7 
Corporate bonds 1,996.2 47.8 14.4 6.6 2,023.0 
Commercial mortgage-backed securities 403.1 9.1 3.0 — 409.2 
Residential mortgage-backed securities 488.1 10.6 4.8 — 493.9 
Asset-backed securities 110.9 2.2 0.1 0.2 112.8 
Collateralized loan obligations 342.9 1.8 1.3 — 343.4 

Total fixed maturities $ 4,145.2 $ 88.4 $ 29.3 $ 7.0 $ 4,197.3 

December 31, 2020

(in millions)
Amortized 

Cost

Gross 
Unrealized 

Gains

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses Allowance for Credit Losses
Fair 
Value

Fixed maturities
U.S. Governments $ 385.4 $ 14.7 $ 0.3 $ — $ 399.8 
Foreign Governments 284.1 11.6 0.7 0.2 294.8 
Obligations of states and political subdivisions 163.1 7.7 0.3 0.1 170.4 
Corporate bonds 1,925.9 75.3 13.3 6.1 1,981.8 
Commercial mortgage-backed securities 324.8 15.2 0.3 — 339.7 
Residential mortgage-backed securities 491.4 17.4 0.6 — 508.2 
Asset-backed securities 120.5 2.9 0.4 0.2 122.8 
Collateralized loan obligations 285.9 4.9 1.2 — 289.6 

Total fixed maturities $ 3,981.1 $ 149.7 $ 17.1 $ 6.6 $ 4,107.1 

Contractual Maturity

The  amortized  cost  and  fair  values  of  fixed  maturity  investments  as  of  September  30,  2021,  by  contractual  maturity,  were  as  follows: 

(in millions)
Amortized 

Cost
Fair 
Value

Due in one year or less $ 288.7 $ 292.9 
Due after one year through five years 1,670.6 1,695.1 
Due after five years through ten years 719.6 728.6 
Due after ten years 121.3 121.4 
Structured securities 1,345.0 1,359.3 

Total $ 4,145.2 $ 4,197.3 

The expected maturities may differ from the contractual maturities because debtors may have the right to call or prepay obligations.
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Other Investments

Details regarding the carrying value and unfunded investment commitments of other investments as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020 were as follows: 
September 30, 2021

(in millions)
Carrying 

Value
Unfunded 

Commitments
Investment Type

Hedge funds $ 102.1 $ — 
Private equity 254.3 63.0 
Overseas deposits 64.6 — 
Other 4.8 — 

Total other investments $ 425.8 $ 63.0 

December 31, 2020

(in millions)
Carrying 

Value
Unfunded 

Commitments
Investment Type

Hedge funds $ 111.2 $ — 
Private equity 211.4 80.0 
Overseas deposits 102.1 — 
Other 4.7 — 

Total other investments $ 429.4 $ 80.0 

The following describes each investment type:

• Hedge funds: Hedge funds include funds that primarily buy and sell stocks, including short sales, multi-strategy credit, relative value credit and distressed credit.

• Private equity: Private equity includes buyout funds, real asset/infrastructure funds, credit special situations funds, mezzanine lending funds and direct investments and strategic non-controlling minority investments in private companies that are principally accounted for using the equity
method of accounting.

• Overseas deposits: Overseas deposits are principally invested in short-term sovereign fixed income and investment grade corporate securities and international stocks.

• Other: Other includes participation in investment pools.

Unrealized Losses

An aging of unrealized losses on our investments in fixed maturities is presented below:
September 30, 2021 Less Than One Year One Year or Greater Total

(in millions)
Fair 
Value

Unrealized 
Losses

Fair 
Value

Unrealized 
Losses

Fair 
Value

Unrealized 
Losses

Fixed maturities
U.S. Governments $ 161.1 $ 1.7 $ 5.6 $ 0.4 $ 166.7 $ 2.1 
Foreign Governments 117.7 2.4 1.3 0.3 119.0 2.7 
Obligations of states and political subdivisions 28.3 0.5 0.4 0.4 28.7 0.9 
Corporate bonds 626.4 10.8 40.7 3.6 667.1 14.4 
Commercial mortgage-backed securities 136.9 2.6 8.9 0.4 145.8 3.0 
Residential mortgage-backed securities 207.4 4.6 4.8 0.2 212.2 4.8 
Asset-backed securities 21.3 0.1 — — 21.3 0.1 
Collateralized loan obligations 126.8 1.3 2.4 — 129.2 1.3 

Total fixed maturities $ 1,425.9 $ 24.0 $ 64.1 $ 5.3 $ 1,490.0 $ 29.3 
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December 31, 2020 Less Than One Year One Year or Greater Total

(in millions)
Fair 
Value

Unrealized 
Losses

Fair 
Value

Unrealized 
Losses

Fair 
Value

Unrealized 
Losses

Fixed maturities
U.S. Governments $ 40.6 $ 0.3 $ — $ — $ 40.6 $ 0.3 
Foreign Governments 18.0 0.5 0.1 0.2 18.1 0.7 
Obligations of states and political subdivisions 5.2 0.3 — — 5.2 0.3 
Corporate bonds 202.5 6.7 17.5 6.6 220.0 13.3 
Commercial mortgage-backed securities 21.8 0.3 — — 21.8 0.3 
Residential mortgage-backed securities 74.4 0.4 3.0 0.2 77.4 0.6 
Asset-backed securities 4.6 0.4 — — 4.6 0.4 
Collateralized loan obligations 121.1 0.9 49.1 0.3 170.2 1.2 

Total fixed maturities $ 488.2 $ 9.8 $ 69.7 $ 7.3 $ 557.9 $ 17.1 

We hold a total of 5,377 fixed maturity securities, of which 577 were in an unrealized loss position for less than one year and 85 were in an unrealized loss position for a period one year or greater as of September 30, 2021.

Allowance for Credit Losses

For fixed maturities with a decline in the fair value between the amortized cost due to credit-related factors, an allowance is established for the difference between the estimated recoverable value and amortized cost with a corresponding charge to realized investment losses in the Statement of
Income (Loss).  The allowance is  limited to the difference between amortized cost  and fair  value.  The estimated recoverable  value is the present  value of cash flows expected to be collected,  as determined by management.  The difference between fair  value and amortized cost  that  is  not
associated with credit-related factors is recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive Income (Loss). Accrued interest is excluded from the measurement of the allowance for credit losses.

When determining if a credit loss has been incurred, we may consider the historical performance of the security, available market information and security specific considerations such as the priority payment of the security. In addition, inputs used in our analysis include, but are not limited to,
credit ratings and downgrades, delinquency rates, missed scheduled interest or principal payments, purchase yields, underlying asset performance, collateral types, modeled default rates, modeled severity rates, call/prepayment rates, expected cash flows, industry concentrations, and potential or
filed bankruptcies or restructurings.

We evaluate for credit losses each quarter. If we determine that all or a portion of a fixed maturity is uncollectible, the uncollectible amortized cost is written off with a corresponding reduction to the allowance for credit losses. If we collect cash flows that were previously written off, the
recovery is recognized in realized investment gains. We also consider whether we intend to sell an available-for-sale security or if it is more likely than not that we will be required to sell the security before recovery of its amortized cost. In these instances, a decline in fair value is recognized in
net realized gains (losses) in the Statement of Income based on the fair value of the security at the time of assessment, resulting in a new cost basis for the security.
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The following table presents a roll-forward of the changes in allowance for credit losses on available-for-sale fixed maturities by industry category for the three and nine months ending September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively:

(in millions) Foreign Governments
Obligations of states and

political subdivisions Corporate bonds Asset backed securities Total
Beginning balance, June 30, 2021 $ 0.2 $ — $ 6.2 $ — $ 6.4 

Securities for which allowance was not previously recorded — — 0.7 0.2 0.9 
Securities sold during the period — — (0.2) — (0.2)
Additional net increases (decreases) in existing allowance — — (0.1) — (0.1)

Ending balance, September 30, 2021 $ 0.2 $ — $ 6.6 $ 0.2 $ 7.0 

(in millions) Foreign Governments
Obligations of states and

political subdivisions Corporate bonds Asset backed securities Total
Beginning balance, June 30, 2020 $ 0.3 $ 0.1 $ 39.7 $ 0.1 $ 40.2 

Securities for which allowance was not previously recorded 0.1 — 13.6 — 13.7 
Securities sold during the period (0.2) — (14.7) — (14.9)
Additional net increases (decreases) in existing allowance — 0.1 (6.4) 1.0 (5.3)

Ending balance, September 30, 2020 $ 0.2 $ 0.2 $ 32.2 $ 1.1 $ 33.7 

(in millions) Foreign Governments
Obligations of states and

political subdivisions Corporate bonds Asset backed securities Total
Beginning balance, January 1, 2021 $ 0.2 $ 0.1 $ 6.1 $ 0.2 $ 6.6 

Securities for which allowance was not previously recorded — — 2.7 0.2 2.9 
Securities sold during the period — — (1.1) — (1.1)
Additional net increases (decreases) in existing allowance — (0.1) (1.1) (0.2) (1.4)

Ending balance, September 30, 2021 $ 0.2 $ — $ 6.6 $ 0.2 $ 7.0 

(in millions) Foreign Governments
Obligations of states and

political subdivisions Corporate bonds Asset backed securities Total
Beginning balance, January 1, 2020 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — 

Additions-initial adoption of accounting standard — — 6.8 0.1 6.9 
Securities for which allowance was not previously recorded 0.3 0.3 14.4 — 15.0 
Securities sold during the period (0.2) — (15.5) — (15.7)
Additional net increases (decreases) in existing allowance 0.1 (0.1) 26.5 1.0 27.5 

Ending balance, September 30, 2020 $ 0.2 $ 0.2 $ 32.2 $ 1.1 $ 33.7 

Total credit impairment (gains) losses included in net realized investment gains (losses) in the Consolidated Statement of Income was $0.8 million and $1.5 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, respectively. Total credit impairment losses included in net realized
investment gains (losses) in the Consolidated Statement of Income was $10.5 million and $43.0 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, respectively.
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Investment Gains and Losses

The following table presents our gross realized investment gains (losses):
For the Three Months Ended 

September 30,
For the Nine Months Ended 

September 30,
(in millions) 2021 2020 2021 2020
Realized gains on fixed maturities and other

Fixed maturities $ 3.3 $ 7.2 $ 26.3 $ 30.5 
Other investments, including short-terms 0.9 10.8 8.9 70.7 
Other assets — — 3.4 32.3 

4.2 18.0 38.6 133.5 
Realized losses on fixed maturities and other

Fixed maturities (0.4) (7.5) (5.0) (25.7)
Other investments, including short-terms (3.3) (12.6) (16.6) (58.4)
Other assets (1.4) (0.4) (14.0) (0.9)
Credit losses on fixed maturities (0.7) (10.5) (1.5) (43.0)

(5.8) (31.0) (37.1) (128.0)
Equity securities

Net realized gains (losses) on equity securities 1.4 (3.2) 0.3 (15.8)
Change in unrealized gains (losses) on equity securities held at the end of the period (5.1) 10.5 30.7 (13.7)
Net realized gains (losses) on equity securities (3.7) 7.3 31.0 (29.5)

Net realized investment and other gains (losses) before income taxes (5.3) (5.7) 32.5 (24.0)
Income tax (benefit) provision — (0.5) — (1.7)

Net realized investment gains (losses), net of income taxes $ (5.3) $ (5.2) $ 32.5 $ (22.3)

The cost of securities sold is based on the specific identification method.

Changes in unrealized gains (losses) related to investments are summarized as follows:
For the Three Months Ended 

September 30,
For the Nine Months Ended 

September 30,
(in millions) 2021 2020 2021 2020
Change in unrealized gains (losses)

Fixed maturities $ (23.0) $ 42.5 $ (70.7) $ 66.9 
Other investments — 0.2 — (14.0)
Other and short-term investments (0.3) — (0.6) — 

Net unrealized investment gains (losses) before income taxes (23.3) 42.7 (71.3) 52.9 
Income tax provision (benefit) (4.4) 7.0 (13.0) 12.2 

Net unrealized investment gains (losses), net of income taxes $ (18.9) $ 35.7 $ (58.3) $ 40.7 

Foreign Currency Exchange Forward Contracts

We enter into foreign currency exchange forward contracts to manage operational currency exposure on our Canadian dollar investment portfolio and certain catastrophic events, minimize negative impacts to investment portfolio returns and gain exposure to a total return strategy which invests
in multiple currencies.  The currency forward contracts are carried at fair value in our Consolidated Balance Sheets in “Other liabilities” and “Other assets” at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively. The net realized gains and (losses) are included in “Net realized investment
gains (losses)” in our Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss).
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The fair value of our foreign currency exchange forward contracts as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020 was as follows:

(in millions) September 30, 2021 December 31, 2020
Operational currency exposure $ (0.3) $ 0.4 
Asset manager investment exposure 2.0 (0.2)
Total return strategy (3.4) 0.7 

Total $ (1.7) $ 0.9 

The  following  table  represents  our  gross  investment  realized  gains  and  losses  on  our  foreign  currency  exchange  forward  contracts:
For the Three Months Ended 

September 30,
For the Nine Months Ended 

September 30,
(in millions) 2021 2020 2021 2020
Realized gains

Operational currency exposure $ — $ 4.2 $ 7.1 $ 10.1 
Asset manager investment exposure 1.0 — 2.8 1.0 
Total return strategy 6.9 10.3 13.0 43.5 

Gross realized investment gains 7.9 14.5 22.9 54.6 
Realized losses

Operational currency exposure (5.2) (1.8) (17.8) (6.5)
Asset manager investment exposure — (0.9) (0.8) (1.9)
Total return strategy (6.9) (10.4) (12.0) (47.0)

Gross realized investment losses (12.1) (13.1) (30.6) (55.4)
Net realized investment (losses) gains on foreign currency exchange forward contracts $ (4.2) $ 1.4 $ (7.7) $ (0.8)

Regulatory Deposits, Pledged Securities and Letters of Credit

We are required to maintain assets on deposit with various regulatory authorities to support our insurance and reinsurance operations.  We maintain assets pledged as collateral in support of irrevocable letters of credit issued under the terms of certain reinsurance agreements for reported loss and

(in millions) September 30, 2021 December 31, 2020
Securities on deposit for regulatory and other purposes $ 205.3 $ 227.5 
Securities pledged as collateral for letters of credit and other 191.0 189.4 
Securities and cash on deposit supporting Lloyd’s business 331.2 409.2 

Total restricted investments $ 727.5 $ 826.1 

As the corporate member for our Lloyd’s syndicates, Argo’s share of Argo (No. 604) Limited’s required Funds to maintain at Lloyd’s was $397.9 million at September 30, 2021, of which $179.0 million was provided by Argo Re, Ltd. (“Argo Re.”)

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Fair value measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability occurs in the principal market for
the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, the most advantageous market. Market participants are buyers and sellers in the principal (or most advantageous) market that are independent, knowledgeable, able to transact for the asset or liability and willing to transfer the asset or
liability.

Valuation techniques consistent with the market approach, income approach and/or cost approach are used to measure fair value. The inputs of these valuation techniques are categorized into three levels.

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that can be accessed at the reporting date. We define actively traded as a security that has traded in the past seven days. We receive one quote per instrument for Level 1 inputs.

(1)

(1) 
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• Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. We receive one quote per instrument for Level 2 inputs.

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs reflect our own judgments about the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability based on the best information available in the circumstances.

We receive fair value prices from third-party pricing services and our outside investment managers. These prices are determined using observable market information such as dealer quotes, market spreads, cash flows, yield curves, live trading levels, trade execution data, market consensus
prepayment speeds, credit information and the security’s terms and conditions, among other things. We have reviewed the processes used by the third-party providers for pricing the securities and have determined that these processes result in fair values consistent with GAAP requirements. In
addition, we review these prices for reasonableness, and have not adjusted any prices received from the third-party providers as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020. A description of the valuation techniques we use to measure assets at fair value is as follows:

Fixed Maturities (Available-for-Sale) Levels 1 and 2:

• United States Treasury securities are typically valued using Level 1 inputs. For these securities, we obtain fair value measurements from third-party pricing services using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets at the reporting date.

• United States Government agencies,  non-U.S. Government securities,  obligations of states and political  subdivisions, credit  securities and foreign denominated government and credit  securities are reported at fair  value using Level 2 inputs.  For these securities,  we obtain fair  value
measurements from third-party pricing services. Observable data may include dealer quotes, market spreads, yield curves, live trading levels, trade execution data, credit information and the security’s terms and conditions, among other things.

• Asset and mortgage-backed securities and collateralized loan obligations are reported at fair value using Level 2 inputs. For these securities, we obtain fair value measurements from third-party pricing services. Observable data may include dealer quotes, market spreads, cash flows, yield
curves, live trading levels, trade execution data, market consensus prepayment speeds, credit information and the security’s terms and conditions, among other things.

Fixed Maturities (Available-for-Sale) Levels 3: We own term loans that are valued using unobservable inputs.

Equity Securities Level 1: Equity securities are principally reported at fair value using Level 1 inputs. For these securities, we obtain fair value measurements from a third-party pricing service using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets at the reporting date.

Equity Securities Level 3: We own certain equity securities that are reported at fair value using Level 3 inputs. The valuation techniques for these securities include the following:

• Fair value measurements for an investment in an equity fund obtained by applying final prices provided by the administrator of the fund, which is based upon certain estimates and assumptions.

• Fair value measurements from brokers and independent valuation services, both based upon estimates, assumptions and other unobservable inputs.

Other Investments Level 2: Foreign regulatory deposits are assets held in trust in jurisdictions where there is a legal and regulatory requirement to maintain funds locally in order to protect policyholders. Lloyd’s is the appointed investment manager for the funds. These assets are invested in
short-term government securities, agency securities and corporate bonds and are valued using Level 2 inputs based upon values obtained from Lloyd’s.

Short-term Investments: Short-term investments are principally reported at fair value using Level 1 inputs, with the exception of short-term corporate and governmental bonds reported at fair value using Level 2 inputs as described in the fixed maturities section above. Values for the investments
categorized as Level 1 are obtained from various financial institutions as of the reporting date.
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Based on an analysis of the inputs, our financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis have been categorized as follows:
Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using

(in millions)
September 30, 

2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
Fixed maturities

U.S. Governments $ 410.2 $ 398.3 $ 11.9 $ — 
Foreign Governments 229.1 — 229.1 — 
Obligations of states and political subdivisions 175.7 — 175.7 — 
Corporate bonds 2,023.0 — 2,019.2 3.8 
Commercial mortgage-backed securities 409.2 — 409.2 — 
Residential mortgage-backed securities 493.9 — 493.9 — 
Asset-backed securities 112.8 — 112.8 — 
Collateralized loan obligations 343.4 — 343.4 — 

Total fixed maturities 4,197.3 398.3 3,795.2 3.8 
Equity securities 181.8 156.3 — 25.5 
Other investments 65.1 — 65.1 — 
Short-term investments 508.6 497.4 11.2 — 

$ 4,952.8 $ 1,052.0 $ 3,871.5 $ 29.3 

Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets
Significant other observable inputs
Significant unobservable inputs

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using

(in millions)
December 31, 

2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
Fixed maturities

U.S. Governments $ 399.8 $ 383.5 $ 16.3 $ — 
Foreign Governments 294.8 — 294.8 — 
Obligations of states and political subdivisions 170.4 — 170.4 — 
Corporate bonds 1,981.8 — 1,974.8 7.0 
Commercial mortgage-backed securities 339.7 — 339.7 — 
Residential mortgage-backed securities 508.2 — 508.2 — 
Asset-backed securities 122.8 — 122.8 — 
Collateralized loan obligations 289.6 — 289.6 — 

Total fixed maturities 4,107.1 383.5 3,716.6 7.0 
Equity securities 176.7 159.2 — 17.5 
Other investments 102.5 0.4 102.1 — 
Short-term investments 542.6 526.5 16.1 — 

$ 4,928.9 $ 1,069.6 $ 3,834.8 $ 24.5 

Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets
Significant other observable inputs
Significant unobservable inputs

The fair value measurements in the tables above do not equal “Total investments” on our Consolidated Balance Sheets as they exclude certain other investments that are accounted for under the equity-method of accounting.

 (a) (b) (c)

(a)

(b)

(c)

 (a) (b) (c)

(a)

(b)

(c)
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances for the investments categorized as Level 3 are as follows:

Fair Value Measurements Using Observable Inputs (Level 3)

(in millions) Corporate Bonds
Equity 

Securities Short Term Investments Total
Beginning balance, January 1, 2021 $ 7.0 $ 17.5 $ — $ 24.5 

Transfers into Level 3 — 1.5 — 1.5 
Transfers out of Level 3 — — — — 
Total gains or losses (realized/unrealized):

Included in net income 0.1 6.5 — 6.6 
Included in other comprehensive income 0.1 — — 0.1 

Purchases, issuances, sales, and settlements:
Purchases 0.1 — — 0.1 
Issuances — — — — 
Sales (3.5) — — (3.5)
Settlements — — — — 

 Ending balance, September 30, 2021 $ 3.8 $ 25.5 $ — $ 29.3 
Amount of total gains or losses for the year included in net income attributable to the change in unrealized gains or losses relating to assets still held at September 30, 2021 $ — $ — $ — $ — 

(in millions) Credit Financial
Equity 

Securities Total
Beginning balance, January 1, 2020 $ 7.4 $ 18.2 $ 25.6 

Transfers into Level 3 — — — 
Transfers out of Level 3 — — — 
Total gains or losses (realized/unrealized):

Included in net income — (5.9) (5.9)
Included in other comprehensive loss (0.5) — (0.5)

Purchases, issuances, sales, and settlements:
Purchases 0.1 5.2 5.3 
Issuances — — — 
Sales — — — 
Settlements — — — 

 Ending balance, December 31, 2020 $ 7.0 $ 17.5 $ 24.5 

Amount of total gains or losses for the year included in net income attributable to the change in unrealized gains or losses relating to assets still held at December 31, 2020 $ — $ — $ — 

At September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, we did not have any financial assets or financial liabilities measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis or any financial liabilities on a recurring basis.
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4.    Allowance for Credit Losses

Premiums receivable

The following table represents the balances of premiums receivable, net of allowance for expected credit losses, at September 30, 2021 and January 1, 2021, and the changes in the allowance for expected credit losses for the nine months ended September 30, 2021.

(in millions)
Premiums Receivable, Net of Allowance for Estimated

Uncollectible Premiums Allowance for Estimated Uncollectible Premiums
Balance, January 1, 2021 $ 679.8 $ 9.4 

Current period change for estimated uncollectible premiums — 
Write-offs of uncollectible premiums receivable (0.6)
Foreign exchange adjustments — 

Balance, September 30, 2021 $ 701.9 $ 8.8 

Reinsurance Recoverables

The following table presents the balances of reinsurance recoverables, net of the allowance for estimated uncollectible reinsurance, at September 30, 2021 and January 1, 2021, and changes in the allowance for estimated uncollectible reinsurance for the nine months ended September 30, 2021. 

(in millions)
Reinsurance Recoverables, Net of Allowance for Estimated

Uncollectible Reinsurance Allowance for Estimated Uncollectible Reinsurance
Balance, January 1, 2021 $ 3,009.0 $ 4.1 

Current period change for estimated uncollectible reinsurance (0.3)
Write-offs of uncollectible reinsurance recoverables — 

Balance, September 30, 2021 $ 2,954.0 $ 3.8 

We primarily utilize A.M. Best credit ratings when determining the allowance, adjusted as needed based on our historical experience with the reinsurers. A portion of our reinsurance recoverables are collateralized by letters of credit, funds held or trust agreements.
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5.    Reserves for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses

The following table provides a reconciliation of reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses (“LAE”):
For the Nine Months Ended 

September 30,
(in millions) 2021 2020
Net reserves beginning of the year $ 2,906.1 $ 2,722.7 
Net AIL reserves acquired — 27.9 
Add:
Losses and LAE incurred during current calendar year, net of reinsurance:

Current accident year 884.9 876.9 
Prior accident years 6.0 6.1 

Losses and LAE incurred during calendar year, net of reinsurance 890.9 883.0 
Deduct:
Net reserve ceded - reinsurance to close transaction for years of account 2017 and prior 219.7 — 
Losses and LAE payments made during current calendar year, net of reinsurance:

Current accident year 100.5 188.2 
Prior accident years 552.8 632.7 

Losses and LAE payments made during current calendar year, net of reinsurance: 653.3 820.9 
Change in participation interest 12.5 33.0 
Foreign exchange adjustments (7.3) 23.0 
Net reserves - end of period 2,929.2 2,868.7 
Add:
Reinsurance recoverables on unpaid losses and LAE, end of period 2,510.3 2,521.3 
Gross reserves - end of period $ 5,439.5 $ 5,390.0 

Amount represents reserves ceded under the reinsurance to close transaction with RiverStone for Lloyd’s years of account 2017 and prior, effective January 1, 2020.
Amount represents the change in reserves due to changing our participation in Syndicates 1200 and 1910.

Reserves for losses and LAE represent the estimated indemnity cost and related adjustment expenses necessary to investigate and settle claims. Such estimates are based upon individual case estimates for reported claims, estimates from ceding companies for reinsurance assumed and actuarial
estimates for losses that have been incurred but not yet reported to the insurer. Any change in probable ultimate liabilities is reflected in current operating results.

The impact from the (favorable) unfavorable development of prior accident years’ loss and LAE reserves on each reporting segment is presented below: 
For the Nine Months Ended 

September 30,
(in millions) 2021 2020
U.S. Operations $ (0.7) $ (0.5)
International Operations 0.1 (4.5)
Run-off Lines 6.6 11.1 

Total (favorable) unfavorable prior-year development $ 6.0 $ 6.1 

The following describes the primary factors behind each segment’s prior accident year reserve development for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020:

Nine months ended September 30, 2021:

• U.S. Operations: Favorable development primarily in specialty lines, partially offset by unfavorable development in liability and professional lines.

 (1)

(2)

(1)

(2)
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• International Operations: Unfavorable development primarily related to a one-time accounting adjustment and large claim movements in Argo Insurance Bermuda, partially offset by favorable development in property lines, including losses associated with prior year catastrophe losses.

• Run-off Lines: Unfavorable loss reserve development on prior accident years in risk management workers compensation, other run-off lines and an individual environmental loss.

Nine months ended September 30, 2020:

• U.S. Operations: Favorable development in surety and commercial multi-peril, partially offset by unfavorable development in general liability, special property and commercial auto liability.

• International Operations: Favorable development in property, specialty and reinsurance, partially offset by unfavorable development in general liability and surety lines.

• Run-off Lines: Unfavorable loss reserve development on prior accident years in asbestos and environmental, driven by asbestos claims remaining open longer than expected, higher defense costs and movement on individual environmental claims as well as unfavorable development in
other run-off lines, partially offset by favorable development in risk management workers compensation.

In the opinion of management, our reserves represent the best estimate of our ultimate liabilities, based on currently known facts, current law, current technology and reasonable assumptions where facts are not known. Due to the significant uncertainties and related management judgments,
there can be no assurance that future favorable or unfavorable loss development, which may be material, will not occur.

6.    Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Cash. The carrying amount approximates fair value.

Investment securities and short-term investments. See Note 3, “Investments,” for additional information.

Premiums receivable and reinsurance recoverables on paid losses. The carrying value of current receivables and reinsurance recoverables on paid losses approximates fair value.

Debt. At September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the fair value of our debt instruments is determined using both Level 1 and Level 2 inputs, as previously defined in Note 3, “Investments.”

We receive fair value prices from third-party pricing services for our financial instruments as well as for similar financial instruments. These prices are determined using observable market information such as publicly traded quoted prices, and trading prices for similar financial instruments
actively being traded in the current market. We have reviewed the processes used by the third-party providers for pricing the securities and have determined that these processes result in fair values consistent with GAAP requirements. In addition, we review these prices for reasonableness, and
have not adjusted any prices received from the third-party providers as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020. A description of the valuation techniques we use to measure these liabilities at fair value is as follows:

Senior Unsecured Fixed Rate Notes Level 1:

• Our senior unsecured fixed rate notes are valued using Level 1 inputs. For these securities, we obtain fair value measurements from a third-party pricing service using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets at the reporting date.

Junior Subordinated Debentures and Floating Rate Loan Stock Level 2:

• Our trust preferred debentures, subordinated debentures and floating rate loan stock are typically valued using Level 2 inputs. For these securities, we obtain fair value measurements from a third-party pricing service using quoted prices for similar securities being traded in active markets
at the reporting date, as our specific debt instruments are more infrequently traded.
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A summary of our financial instruments whose carrying value did not equal fair value is shown below:
September 30, 2021 December 31, 2020

(in millions)
Carrying 
Amount

Fair 
Value

Carrying 
Amount

Fair 
Value

Junior subordinated debentures:
Trust preferred debentures $ 172.7 $ 173.1 $ 172.7 $ 173.6 
Subordinated debentures 85.4 92.0 85.1 92.3 

Total junior subordinated debentures 258.1 265.1 257.8 265.9 
Senior unsecured fixed rate notes 140.3 150.1 140.2 146.7 
Floating rate loan stock 58.7 58.9 60.7 61.0 

457.1 474.1 458.7 473.6 

Based on an analysis of the inputs, our financial instruments measured at fair value for disclosure purposes have been categorized as follows:
Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using

(in millions) September 30, 2021 Level 1 (a) Level 2 (b) Level 3 (c)
Junior subordinated debentures:

Trust preferred debentures $ 173.1 $ — $ 173.1 $ — 
Subordinated debentures 92.0 — 92.0 — 

Total junior subordinated debentures 265.1 — 265.1 — 
Senior unsecured fixed rate notes 150.1 150.1 — — 
Floating rate loan stock 58.9 — 58.9 — 

474.1 150.1 324.0 — 

Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets
Significant other observable inputs
Significant unobservable inputs

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using
(in millions) December 31, 2020 Level 1 (a) Level 2 (b) Level 3 (c)
Junior subordinated debentures:

Trust preferred debentures $ 173.6 $ — $ 173.6 $ — 
Subordinated debentures 92.3 — 92.3 — 

Total junior subordinated debentures 265.9 — 265.9 — 
Senior unsecured fixed rate notes 146.7 146.7 — — 
Floating rate loan stock 61.0 — 61.0 — 

473.6 146.7 326.9 — 

Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets
Significant other observable inputs
Significant unobservable inputs

7.    Shareholders’ Equity

On August 6, 2021, our Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend in the amount of $0.31 on each common share outstanding. On September 15, 2021, we paid $10.8 million to our shareholders of record on August 31, 2021.

On August 6, 2021, our Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend in the amount of $437.500 per share on our 7.00% Resettable Fixed Rate Preference Shares, Series A, par value of $1.00 per share, with a liquidation preference of $25,000 per share (the “Series A Preference
Shares”). Holders of depositary shares, each representing a 1/1,000th interest in a Series A Preference Share (the “Depositary Shares”), received $0.437500 per Depositary Share. On September 15, 2021, we paid $2.6 million to our shareholders of record of Series A Preference Shares on
August 31, 2021.

(a)

(b)

(c)

(a)

(b)

(c)
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On August 7, 2020, our Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend in the amount of $0.31 on each common share outstanding. On September 11, 2020, we paid $10.9 million to our shareholders of record on August 28, 2020.

On August 7, 2020, our Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend in the amount of $330.556 per share on our 7.00% Resettable Fixed Rate Preference Shares, Series A, par value of $1.00 per share, with a liquidation preference of $25,000 per share (the “Series A Preference
Shares”). Holders of depositary shares, each representing a 1/1,000th interest in a Series A Preference Share (the “Depositary Shares”), received $0.330556 per Depositary Share. On September 15, 2020, we paid $2.0 million to our shareholders of record of Series A Preference Shares on
September 1, 2020.

On May 3, 2016, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $150.0 million of our common shares (“2016 Repurchase Authorization”). The 2016 Repurchase Authorization supersedes all previous repurchase authorizations. As of September 30, 2021, availability under the 2016
Repurchase Authorization for future repurchases of our common shares was $53.3 million.

We did not repurchase any common shares for the nine months ended September 30, 2021.

8.    Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

A summary of changes in accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income, net of taxes (where applicable) by component for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 is presented below:

(in millions)
Foreign Currency Translation

Adjustments

Unrealized 
Holding Gains 
on Securities Defined Benefit Pension Plans Total

Balance, January 1, 2021 $ (37.9) $ 105.1 $ (8.6) $ 58.6 
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications 0.2 (49.2) 1.5 (47.5)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss — (9.1) — (9.1)

Net current-period other comprehensive income (loss) 0.2 (58.3) 1.5 (56.6)
Balance, September 30, 2021 $ (37.7) $ 46.8 $ (7.1) $ 2.0 

(in millions)
Foreign Currency Translation

Adjustments

Unrealized 
Holding Gains 
on Securities Defined Benefit Pension Plans Total

Balance, January 1, 2020 $ (22.6) $ 33.5 $ (8.1) $ 2.8 
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications (12.3) 55.9 — 43.6 
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss — (15.2) — (15.2)

Net current-period other comprehensive income (loss) (12.3) 40.7 — 28.4 
Cumulative effect of adoption of ASU 2016-13 — 5.7 — 5.7 
Balance, September 30, 2020 $ (34.9) $ 79.9 $ (8.1) $ 36.9 

The amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) shown in the above table have been included in the following captions in our Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss):
For the Three Months Ended 

September 30,
For the Nine Months Ended 

September 30,
(in millions) 2021 2020 2021 2020
Unrealized gains and losses on securities:

Net realized investment losses (gains) $ 8.2 $ 4.5 $ (11.0) $ (15.4)
(Benefit) provision for income taxes (0.4) (0.5) 1.9 0.2 

Net of taxes $ 7.8 $ 4.0 $ (9.1) $ (15.2)

Income tax effects are released from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) for unrealized gains or losses when the gains or losses are realized, and are taxed at the statutory rate based on jurisdiction of the underlying transaction.
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9.    Net Income (Loss) Per Common Share

The following table presents the calculation of net income (loss) per common share on a basic and diluted basis:
For the Three Months Ended 

September 30,
For the Nine Months Ended 

September 30,
(in millions, except number of shares and per share amounts) 2021 2020 2021 2020
Net income (loss) $ 22.4 $ (23.1) $ 122.0 $ (53.2)
Less: Preferred share dividends 2.6 2.0 7.9 2.0 
Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders 19.8 (25.1) 114.1 (55.2)
Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic 34,854,724 34,667,266 34,796,528 34,590,659 
Effect of dilutive securities:

Equity compensation awards 181,976 — 265,888 — 
Weighted average common shares outstanding - diluted 35,036,700 34,667,266 35,062,416 34,590,659 
Net income (loss) per common share:

Basic $ 0.57 $ (0.72) $ 3.28 $ (1.60)

Diluted $ 0.56 $ (0.72) $ 3.26 $ (1.60)

Excluded from the weighted average common shares outstanding calculation at September 30, 2021 and 2020 are 11,315,889 shares, which are held as treasury shares. The shares are excluded as of their repurchase date. There were 26,422 and 49,796 weighted average shares excluded from the
computation of diluted net income per common share because they were anti-dilutive for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, respectively. Due to the net loss incurred for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, all of the potentially dilutive securities were anti-
dilutive, and therefore, omitted from the calculation.

10.    Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Interest paid and income taxes paid (recovered) were as follows:
For the Nine Months Ended 

September 30,
(in millions) 2021 2020
Senior unsecured fixed rate notes $ 7.0 $ 7.0 
Junior subordinated debentures 7.5 9.4 
Other indebtedness 1.5 4.6 

Total interest paid $ 16.0 $ 21.0 

Income taxes paid 30.7 46.0 
Income taxes recovered (1.2) (1.6)

Income taxes paid, net $ 29.5 $ 44.4 

11.    Share-based Compensation

Argo Group’s 2019 Omnibus Incentive Plan

In May 2019, our shareholders approved the 2019 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “2019 Plan”), which provides equity-based and cash-based performance-related incentives to key employees, non-employee directors and other service providers. The intent of the 2019 Plan is to encourage and
provide for the acquisition of an ownership interest in Argo Group, enabling us to attract and retain qualified and competent persons to serve as members of our management team and Board of Directors. The 2019 Plan authorizes 1,885,000 common shares to be granted as equity-based awards.
No further grants will be made under any prior plan; however, any awards under a prior plan that are outstanding as of the effective date shall remain subject to the terms and conditions of, and be governed by, such prior plan.
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Awards granted under the 2019 Plan may be in the form of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock unit awards, performance awards, other stock-based awards or other cash-based awards. Awards may be granted either alone, in addition to or in tandem
with other awards authorized under the 2019 Plan. Awards that are settled in stock will count as one share for the purposes of reducing the share reserve under the 2019 Plan. Shares issued under this plan may be shares that are authorized and unissued or shares that we have reacquired,
including shares purchased on the open market.

Stock options and stock appreciation rights are required to have an exercise price that is not less than the fair market value on the date of grant. The term of these awards is not to exceed ten years.

Restricted Shares

A summary of non-vested restricted share activity as of September 30, 2021 and changes during the nine months then ended is as follows:

Shares

Weighted-Average 
Grant Date 
Fair Value

Outstanding at January 1, 2021 370,027 $ 44.22 
Granted 159,382 $ 54.97 
Vested and issued (142,705) $ 45.94 
Expired or forfeited (92,039) $ 44.41 

Outstanding at September 30, 2021 294,665 $ 49.15 

The restricted shares vest over one to four years. Expense recognized under this plan for the restricted shares was $1.4 million and $4.3 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, respectively, as compared to $1.4 million and $5.9 million for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2020, respectively. Compensation expense for all share-based compensation awards is included in “Underwriting, acquisition and insurance expenses” in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss). As of September 30, 2021, there was $11.4 million of
total unrecognized compensation cost related to restricted share compensation arrangements granted by Argo Group.

Performance Shares

We have issued to certain key employees non-vested restricted stock awards whose vesting is subject to the achievement of certain performance measures. The non-vested performance share awards vest over three to four years. Market-based performance awards are valued using the Monte
Carlo simulation. All other non-vested performance share awards are valued based on the fair market value as of the grant date. Vesting of the awards is subject to the achievement of defined performance measures and the number of shares vested may be adjusted based on the achievement of
certain targets. We evaluate the likelihood of the employee achieving the performance condition and include this estimate in the determination of the forfeiture factor for these grants.

A summary of non-vested performance share activity as of September 30, 2021 and changes during the nine months then ended is as follows:

Shares

Weighted-Average 
Grant Date 
Fair Value

Outstanding at January 1, 2021 157,847 $ 43.10 
Granted 100,291 $ 54.79 
Vested and issued (8,987) $ 44.49 
Expired or forfeited (45,768) $ 48.36 

Outstanding at June 30, 2021 203,383 $ 47.62 

Expense recognized under this plan for the performance shares was $0.2 million and $1.8 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, respectively, as compared to $0.2 million and $0.9 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, respectively. As of
September 30, 2021, there was $5.6 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to performance share compensation arrangements granted by Argo Group.
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12.    Underwriting, Acquisition and Insurance Expenses

Underwriting, acquisition and insurance expenses were as follows:
For the Three Months Ended 

September 30,
For the Nine Months Ended 

September 30,
(in millions) 2021 2020 2021 2020
Commissions $ 88.0 $ 79.4 $ 236.2 $ 201.9 
Other underwriting, acquisition and insurance expenses 105.1 99.1 315.7 304.3 

193.1 178.5 551.9 506.2 
Net deferral of policy acquisition costs (16.0) (16.6) (21.1) (16.4)
Total underwriting, acquisition and insurance expenses $ 177.1 $ 161.9 $ 530.8 $ 489.8 

13.    Income Taxes

We are incorporated under the laws of Bermuda and, under current Bermuda law, are not obligated to pay any taxes in Bermuda based upon income or capital gains. We have received an undertaking from the Supervisor of Insurance in Bermuda pursuant to the provisions of the Exempted
Undertakings Tax Protection Act, 2011, which exempts us from any Bermuda taxes computed on profits, income or any capital asset, gain or appreciation or any tax in the nature of estate, duty or inheritance tax, at least until the year 2035.

We do not consider Argo Group International Holdings, Ltd. to be engaged in a trade or business in the United States or the United Kingdom and, accordingly, do not expect to be subject to direct United States or United Kingdom income taxation.

We have subsidiaries based in the United Kingdom that are subject to the tax laws of that country. Under current law, these subsidiaries are taxed at the applicable corporate tax rates. Certain of the United Kingdom subsidiaries are deemed to be engaged in business in the United States, and
therefore,  are subject to United States corporate tax in respect of a proportion of their  United States underwriting business only. Relief is available against the United Kingdom tax liabilities  in respect of overseas taxes paid that arise from the underwriting business.  Our United Kingdom
subsidiaries file separate United Kingdom income tax returns.

We have subsidiaries based in the United States that are subject to United States tax laws. Under current law, these subsidiaries are taxed at the applicable corporate tax rates. Our United States subsidiaries generally file a consolidated United States federal income tax return.

We also have operations in Brazil, France, Ireland, Italy, Malta, and Switzerland, which also are subject to income taxes imposed by the jurisdiction in which they operate. We have operations in Barbados and the United Arab Emirates, which are not subject to income tax under the laws of
those countries.

On June 10, 2021, U.K. tax legislation referred to as Finance Act 2021 received Royal Assent and was enacted. The effects of changes in tax laws and tax rates are recognized in the period of enactment. Accordingly, we recorded the impacts of Finance Act 2021 in our June 30, 2021
consolidated financial statements which primarily includes the remeasurement of our deferred tax assets and liabilities for the increased U.K. federal tax rate from 19% to 25% beginning on April 1, 2023. The remeasurement resulted in an increase of net deferred tax assets of $7.4 million.
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Our  expected  income  tax  provision  computed  on  pre-tax  income  (loss)  at  the  weighted  average  tax  rate  has  been  calculated  as  the  sum  of  the  pre-tax  income  (loss)  in  each  jurisdiction  multiplied  by  that  jurisdiction’s  applicable  statutory  tax  rate.  For  the  three  and  nine  months  ended
September 30, 2021 and 2020, pre-tax income (loss) attributable to our operations and the corresponding operations’ effective tax rates were as follows: 

For the Three Months Ended September 30,
2021 2020

(in millions)
Pre-Tax 

Income (Loss)

Effective 
Tax 
Rate

Pre-Tax 
Income (Loss)

Effective 
Tax 
Rate

Bermuda $ 7.2 — % $ 5.5 0.1 %
United States 21.4 26.8 % 7.2 3.1 %
United Kingdom (6.1) (1.0) % (38.1) 9.7 %
Barbados — — % — — %
Belgium — — % 0.2 22.8 %
Brazil 5.9 — % 0.3 — %
United Arab Emirates 0.9 — % 0.4 — %
Ireland — (1) — % — (1) — %
Italy 0.2 — % (0.9) — %
Malta (1.3) — % (1.1) — %
Switzerland — (1) — % — (1) 1.0 %
Pre-tax income (loss) $ 28.2 20.6 % $ (26.5) 12.9 %

Pre-tax income (loss) for the respective year was less than $0.1 million.

For the Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021 2020

(in millions)
Pre-Tax 

Income (Loss)

Effective 
Tax 
Rate

Pre-Tax 
Income (Loss)

Effective 
Tax 
Rate

Bermuda $ 14.5 — % $ (49.1) — %
United States 126.7 20.7 % 62.5 21.3 %
United Kingdom (14.9) 68.4 % (65.7) 9.9 %
Barbados — (1) — % — — %
Belgium — — % 0.2 25.3 %
Brazil 9.8 — % 3.2 — %
United Arab Emirates 1.2 — % 1.8 — %
Ireland (0.1) — % (0.1) — %
Italy 1.4 — % 0.7 — %
Malta (0.4) — % 0.2 — %
Switzerland (0.1) — % — (1) — %
Pre-tax income (loss) $ 138.1 11.7 % $ (46.3) (14.8)%

Pre-tax income (loss) for the respective year was less than $0.1 million.

Our effective tax rate may vary significantly from period to period depending on the jurisdiction generating the pre-tax income (loss) and its corresponding statutory tax rate. The geographic distribution of pre-tax income (loss) can fluctuate significantly between periods given the inherit nature
of our business.

(1)    

(1)    
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A reconciliation of the difference between the provision for income taxes and the expected tax provision at the weighted average tax rate is as follows:
For the Three Months Ended 

September 30,
For the Nine Months Ended 

September 30,
(in millions) 2021 2020 2021 2020
Income tax provision at expected rate $ 5.6 $ (6.5) 28.4 2.8 
Tax effect of:

Nontaxable investment income (0.1) (0.2) (0.4) (0.5)
Foreign exchange adjustments 0.2 0.7 (0.3) 0.1 
Goodwill — — (1) — 1.0 
Withholding taxes — — (1) 0.1 0.1 
Prior period adjustments — 0.9 — 0.9 
Change in uncertain tax position liability (0.4) — (2.3) — 
Change in valuation allowance 0.8 1.2 (1.1) 1.2 
Impact of change in tax rate related to Finance Act 2021 — — (7.4) — 

     Other (0.3) 0.5 (0.9) 1.3 
Income tax provision (benefit) $ 5.8 $ (3.4) $ 16.1 $ 6.9 

Tax effect of the adjustment for the respective year was less than $0.1 million.

Our gross deferred tax assets are supported by taxes paid in previous periods, reversal of taxable temporary differences and recognition of future taxable income. Management regularly evaluates the recoverability of the deferred tax assets and makes any necessary adjustments to them based
upon any changes in management’s expectations of future taxable income. Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon our generation of future taxable income sufficient to recover tax benefits that cannot be recovered from taxes paid in the carryback period, generally for our U.S.
property and casualty insurers two years for net operating losses and for all our U.S. subsidiaries three years for capital losses. If a company determines that any of its deferred tax assets will not result in future tax benefits, a valuation allowance must be established for the portion of these assets
that are not expected to be realized. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, the net change in valuation allowance for deferred tax assets was an increase (decrease) of $0.8 million and $(1.1) million, respectively, relating to the following: Internal Revenue Code Section 382
limited net operating loss carryforwards within the United States, cumulative losses incurred since inception, and valuation allowances acquired through or related to acquisitions. Based upon a review of our available evidence, both positive and negative discussed above, our management
concluded that it is more-likely-than-not that the other deferred tax assets will be realized.

For any uncertain tax positions not meeting the “more-likely-than-not” recognition threshold, accounting standards require recognition, measurement and disclosure in a company’s financial statements. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, the Company had a net decrease
of uncertain tax positions in the amount of $(0.4) million and $(2.3) million, respectively. A net increase (decrease) of interest in the amount of $0.1 million and $(0.3) million has been recorded in the line item “Interest expense” in our Consolidated Statements of (Loss) Income for the three
and nine months ended September 30, 2021, respectively. A net increase (decrease) of penalty in the amount of $0.0 million and $(0.4) million has been recorded in the line “Underwriting, acquisition and insurance expenses” in our Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) for the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2021, respectively.

Our United States subsidiaries are no longer subject to U.S. federal and state income tax examinations by tax authorities for years before 2017. Our United Kingdom subsidiaries are no longer subject to United Kingdom income tax examinations by Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs for years
before 2019.

Numerous foreign jurisdictions in which we operate have provided or proposed income-tax relief in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. The Company does not anticipate any of the recent legislative initiatives to have a material impact on its financial statements and will continue to analyze
these initiatives in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

14.    Commitments and Contingencies

Argo Group’s subsidiaries are parties to legal actions incidental to their business. Based on the opinion of legal counsel, management believes that the resolution of these matters will not materially affect our financial condition or results of operations.

(1) 
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We have contractual commitments to invest up to $63.0 million related to our limited partnership investments at September 30, 2021, as further disclosed in Note 3, “Investments.” These commitments will be funded as required by the partnership agreements which can be called to be fulfilled
at any time, not to exceed twelve years.

15.    Segment Information

We are primarily engaged in underwriting property and casualty insurance. We have two ongoing reporting segments: U.S. Operations and International Operations. Additionally, we have a Run-off Lines segment for certain products that we no longer underwrite.

We consider many factors, including the nature of each segment’s insurance and reinsurance products, production sources, distribution strategies and the regulatory environment, in determining how to aggregate reporting segments. Transactions between segments are reported in the segment
that initiated the transaction.

In evaluating the operating performance of  our  segments,  we focus on core  underwriting and investing results  before  the consideration of  realized gains  or  losses  from investments.  Realized investment  gains  are  reported as  a  component  of  the Corporate  and Other  segment,  as  decisions
regarding the acquisition and disposal of securities reside with the corporate investment function and are not under the control of the individual business segments. Identifiable assets by segment are those assets used in the operation of each segment.

Revenue and income (loss) before income taxes for each segment were as follows:

 
For the Three Months Ended 

September 30,
For the Nine Months Ended 

September 30,
(in millions) 2021 2020 2021 2020
Revenue:

Earned premiums
U.S. Operations $ 323.5 $ 298.7 $ 952.4 $ 902.8 
International Operations 163.9 146.7 471.1 410.8 
Run-off Lines 0.1 0.1 0.4 0.3 

Total earned premiums 487.5 445.5 1,423.9 1,313.9 
Net investment income

U.S. Operations 29.2 30.1 91.7 56.1 
International Operations 12.3 9.9 38.2 19.0 
Run-off Lines 0.9 1.5 2.8 2.8 
Corporate and Other 3.7 0.5 10.5 1.1 

Total net investment income 46.1 42.0 143.2 79.0 
Net realized investment gains (losses) (5.3) (5.7) 32.5 (24.0)

Total revenue $ 528.3 $ 481.8 $ 1,599.6 $ 1,368.9 

For the Three Months Ended 
September 30,

For the Nine Months Ended 
September 30,

(in millions) 2021 2020 2021 2020
Income (loss) before income taxes

U.S. Operations $ 39.9 $ 20.1 $ 130.1 $ 88.2 
International Operations 6.9 (14.7) 14.6 (54.5)
Run-off Lines (3.6) (9.5) (4.5) (10.3)

Total segment income before taxes 43.2 (4.1) 140.2 23.4 
Corporate and Other (11.0) (8.3) (30.2) (32.1)
Net realized investment and other gains (losses) (5.3) (5.7) 32.5 (24.0)
Foreign currency exchange losses 1.3 (8.4) (4.4) (13.6)

Total income (loss) before income taxes $ 28.2 $ (26.5) $ 138.1 $ (46.3)
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The table below presents earned premiums by geographic location for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020. For this disclosure, we determine geographic location by the country of domicile of our subsidiaries that underwrite the business and not by the location of
insureds or reinsureds from whom the business was generated.

For the Three Months Ended 
September 30,

For the Nine Months Ended 
September 30,

(in millions) 2021 2020 2021 2020
United States $ 322.7 $ 299.1 $ 949.7 $ 900.2 
United Kingdom 129.1 90.6 344.9 252.8 
Bermuda 10.3 27.3 46.1 73.8 
Malta 7.7 13.0 32.7 43.3 
All other jurisdictions 17.7 15.5 50.5 43.8 

Total earned premiums $ 487.5 $ 445.5 $ 1,423.9 $ 1,313.9 

The following table represents identifiable assets:
(in millions) September 30, 2021 December 31, 2020
U.S. Operations $ 5,841.6 $ 6,032.2 
International Operations 3,900.6 3,899.4 
Run-off Lines 270.3 335.9 
Corporate and Other 505.6 198.3 
Total $ 10,518.1 $ 10,465.8 

Included in total assets at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020 are $597.5 million and $825.9 million, respectively, in assets associated with trade capital providers.

16.    Subsequent Event

On October 4, 2021, we reached an agreement to sell our Brazilian operations, Argo Seguros Brasil S.A. (“Argo Brazil”), to Spice Private Equity Ltd., an investment company focused on global private equity investments, for a purchase price of 160 million Brazilian Reais (approximately
$29.8 million), subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the purchase agreement. Argo Brazil is one of the units within our International Operations reporting segment. The transaction is subject to regulatory and anti-trust approval and is expected to close in the fourth quarter of 2021. As
of the date of the financial statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q we are unable to reasonably estimate the gain/loss that will result from this transaction.

Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following is a discussion and analysis of our results of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 compared with the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, and a discussion of our financial condition as of September 30, 2021. This discussion and
analysis should be read in conjunction with the attached unaudited interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and notes thereto and Argo Group’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on
March 15, 2021, including the audited Consolidated Financial Statements and notes thereto.

Certain reclassifications have been made to financial information presented for prior years to conform to the current year’s presentation.

Forward Looking Statements

This report includes forward-looking statements that reflect our current views with respect to future events and financial performance. Forward-looking statements include all statements that do not relate solely to historical or current facts, and can be identified by the use of words such as
"expect,"  "intend,"  "plan,"  "believe,"  “do  not  believe,”  “aim,”  "project,"  "anticipate,"  “seek,”  "will,"  “likely,”  “assume,”  “estimate,”  "may,"  “continue,”  “guidance,”  “objective,”  “remain  optimistic,”  “improve,”  “progress,”  “path  toward,”  “outlook,”  “trends,”  “future,”  “could,”  “would,”
“should,” “target,” “on track” and similar expressions of a future or forward-looking nature.
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Such statements are subject  to certain risks and uncertainties  that  could cause actual  events or results  to differ  materially.  For a more detailed discussion of such risks and uncertainties,  see Item 1A, “Risk Factors” in Argo Group’s Annual Report  on Form 10-K for the fiscal  year ended
December 31, 2020 and in our other filings with the SEC. The inclusion of a forward-looking statement herein should not be regarded as a representation by Argo Group that Argo Group's objectives will be achieved. Argo Group undertakes no obligation to publicly update forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. You should not place undue reliance on any such statements.

Generally, it is our policy to communicate events that may have a material adverse impact on our operations or financial position, including property and casualty catastrophe events and material losses in the investment portfolio, in a timely manner through a public announcement. It is also our
policy not to make public announcements regarding events that are believed to have no material adverse impact on our results of operations or financial position based on management’s current estimates and available information, other than through regularly scheduled calls, press releases or
filings.

Consolidated Results of Operations

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, we reported net income attributable to common shareholders of $19.8 million ($0.56 per diluted common share) and $114.1 million ($3.26 per diluted common share), respectively. For the three and nine months ended September 30,
2020, we reported a net loss attributable to common shareholders of $25.1 million ($0.72 per diluted common share) and $55.2 million ($1.60 per diluted common share), respectively.

The following is a comparison of selected data from our operations, as well as book value per common share, for the relevant comparative periods:

 
For the Three Months Ended 

September 30,
For the Nine Months Ended 

September 30,
(in millions) 2021 2020 2021 2020

Gross written premiums $ 875.6 $ 890.2 $ 2,447.4 $ 2,515.7
Earned premiums $ 487.5 $ 445.5 $ 1,423.9 $ 1,313.9
Net investment income 46.1 42.0 143.2 79.0
Net realized investment gains (losses):

Net realized investment gains (losses) 0.6 (5.7) 3.3 32.7
Change in fair value of equity securities (5.1) 10.5 30.7 (13.7)
Credit losses on fixed maturity securities (0.8) (10.5) (1.5) (43.0)

Net realized investment (losses) gains (5.3) (5.7) 32.5 (24.0)
Total revenue $ 528.3 $ 481.8 $ 1,599.6 $ 1,368.9

Income (loss) before income taxes $ 28.2 $ (26.5) $ 138.1 $ (46.3)
Income tax provision (benefit) 5.8 (3.4) 16.1 6.9

Net income (loss) $ 22.4 $ (23.1) $ 122.0 $ (53.2)
Less: Dividends on preferred shares 2.6 2.0 7.9 2.0

Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders $ 19.8 $ (25.1) $ 114.1 $ (55.2)
Loss ratio 64.0 % 73.8 % 62.5 % 67.2 %
Expense ratio 36.3 % 36.3 % 37.3 % 37.2 %
Combined ratio 100.3 % 110.1 % 99.8 % 104.4 %

September 30, 2021 December 31, 2020 September 30, 2020
Book value per common share $ 50.01 $ 49.40 $ 49.17 
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Impact of COVID-19

Beginning in March 2020 and continuing into 2021, the global COVID-19 pandemic, including the arrival of new strains of the virus, has resulted in significant disruptions in economic activity and financial markets. While the Company’s consolidated net investment income benefited from the
gradual improvement of economic conditions as the impact of the pandemic lessened during the first nine months of 2021, COVID-19 has directly and indirectly adversely affected the Company and may continue to do so for an uncertain period of time. For the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2021, our underwriting results included net pre-tax catastrophe losses of $3.0 million and $12.0 million, respectively, associated with COVID-19 and related economic conditions, as compared to $16.9 million and $60.5 million, respectively, for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2020. Premium levels in certain lines in both our U.S. and International Operations have been negatively impacted by the challenges of the economic slowdown. Conversely, our current accident year non-catastrophe loss results saw reduced claim activity during the nine months
ended September 30, 2021 due, in part,  to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.  While this reduction in claim activity during 2021 was not as significant as that experienced for the same period in 2020, the 2021 current accident year non-catastrophe claim frequency is still  below our
historical averages. Our liquidity and capital resources were not materially impacted by COVID-19 and related economic conditions during the nine months ended September 30, 2021 or 2020. Although vaccines are now available and are in the process of being widely distributed, the extent to
which  COVID-19  (including  emerging  new strains  of  the  COVID-19  virus)  will  continue  to  impact  our  business  will  depend  on  future  developments  that  cannot  be  predicted,  and  while  we  have  recorded  our  best  estimates  of  this  impact  as  of  and  for  the  three  and  nine  months  ended
September 30, 2021, actual results in future periods could materially differ from those disclosed herein.

Non-GAAP Measures

In presenting our results in the following discussion and analysis of our results of operations, we have included certain non-generally accepted accounting principles ("non-GAAP") financial measures within the meaning of Regulation G as promulgated by the SEC. We believe that these non-
GAAP measures, specifically the current accident year non-catastrophe loss, expense and combined ratios, which may be defined differently by other companies, better explain our results of operations in a manner that allows for a more complete understanding of the underlying trends in our
business. However, these measures should not be viewed as a substitute for those determined in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP"). Reconciliations of these financial measures to their most directly comparable GAAP measures are included in the tables
below.

For the Three Months Ended September 30,
2021 2020

(in millions) Amount Ratio Amount Ratio
Earned premiums $ 487.5 $ 445.5 

Losses and loss adjustment expenses, as reported 311.7 64.0 % 328.9 73.8 %
Less:

Favorable (unfavorable) prior accident year loss development (6.2) (1.3)% (1.6) (0.4)%
Catastrophe losses, including COVID-19 (27.3) (5.6)% (71.2) (16.0)%

Current accident year non-catastrophe losses (non-GAAP) $ 278.2 57.1 % $ 256.1 57.4 %
Expense ratio 36.3 % 36.3 %
Current accident year non-catastrophe combined ratio (non-GAAP) 93.4 % 93.7 %
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For the Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021 2020

(in millions) Amount Ratio Amount Ratio
Earned premiums $ 1,423.9 $ 1,313.9 

Losses and loss adjustment expenses, as reported $ 890.9 62.5 % $ 883.0 67.2 %
Less:

Favorable (unfavorable) prior accident year loss development (6.0) (0.4)% (6.1) (0.5)%
Catastrophe losses, including COVID-19 (85.9) (6.0)% (128.2) (9.8)%

Current accident year non-catastrophe losses (non-GAAP) $ 799.0 56.1 % $ 748.7 56.9 %
Expense ratio 37.3 % 37.2 %
Current accident year non-catastrophe combined ratio (non-GAAP) 93.4 % 94.1 %

Gross Written and Earned Premiums

Consolidated gross written and earned premiums by our four primary insurance lines were as follows:

For the Three Months Ended September 30,
2021 2020

(in millions) Gross Written Net Earned Gross Written Net Earned
Property $ 160.8 $ 64.0 $ 251.8 $ 80.9 
Liability 375.7 203.7 365.1 192.0 
Professional 192.3 125.1 161.4 93.2 
Specialty 146.8 94.7 111.9 79.4 

Total $ 875.6 $ 487.5 $ 890.2 $ 445.5 

For the Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021 2020

(in millions) Gross Written Net Earned Gross Written Net Earned
Property $ 451.0 $ 220.7 $ 654.0 $ 232.9 
Liability 1,030.4 600.8 990.6 580.7 
Professional 530.7 341.0 469.4 265.4 
Specialty 435.3 261.4 401.7 234.9 

Total $ 2,447.4 $ 1,423.9 $ 2,515.7 $ 1,313.9 

Consolidated gross written premiums decreased $14.6 million, or (1.6)%, for the three months ended September 30, 2021, as compared to the same period ended 2020, and $68.3 million, or 2.7%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, as compared to the same period ended 2020. The
decrease in gross written premiums for the three months ended September 30, 2021 is attributable to businesses we are exiting, plan to exit or have sold, including sales of Ariel Re in November 2020, our businesses in Italy and Malta, and our U.S. grocery business, and re-underwriting actions
across our catastrophe exposed lines of business. Partially offsetting the decrease was our U.S. Operations which increased 3.7% as compared to the same period in 2020, concentrated in Liability and Professional Lines. The decrease in gross written premiums for the nine months ended
September 30, 2021 was primarily due to a 13.2% year-over-year decrease in International Operations, driven by the sale of Ariel Re, partially offset by 4.4% growth in gross written premiums in U.S. Operations for the comparative periods. Both U.S. Operations and International Operations
continued to see overall rate increases (mid single to low double digits) during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021.
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Consolidated net earned premiums for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 increased $42.0 million, or 9.4%, and $110.0 million, or 8.4%, respectively, as compared to the same periods ended 2020. Net earned premiums increased in both U.S. Operations and International
Operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021. The increase in U.S. Operations was due to premium growth and change in business mix, while International Operations was driven by growth in Syndicate 1200 primarily due to significantly decreasing our use of third-party
capital at Lloyd’s for the 2021 year of account, partially offset by the sale of Ariel Re. We anticipate the negative impact to net earned premiums from the sale of Ariel Re to be greater in future quarters, as we have no new business, but continue to earn premium from the 2020 and prior Lloyd’s
years of account where we still participate on Syndicate 1910.

Our gross written and earned premiums are further discussed by reporting segment and major lines of business below under the heading “Segment Results.”

Net Investment Income

Consolidated net investment income for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 was $46.1 million and $143.2 million, respectively, compared to $42.0 million and $79.0 million for the same periods ended 2020. The increase in net investment income for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2021 compared to the same periods in 2020 was driven by increases from our alternative investment portfolio and included gains from both private equity and hedge fund investments. The increase was partially offset by a decline in net investment income from our fixed
maturities portfolio. Our alternative investment portfolio, which is reported on a one to three-month lag, produced net investment income for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 of $24.2 million and $74.8 million, respectively, compared to net investment income of $19.3
million and net investment loss of $1.6 million for the same periods ended 2020, primarily from higher returns on hedge funds and private equity investments as valuations benefited from the improving circumstances surrounding COVID-19 throughout 2021.

Net investment income from fixed maturity assets held directly and dividends from equity securities was $21.9 million and $68.4 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, respectively, compared to $22.7 million and $80.6 million for the same periods ended 2020. The
decline in the comparative periods was due to the 2020 liquidation of a high yield portfolio in connection with a “de-risking” in our investment strategy, lower reinvestment rates and security disposals in the second quarter of 2021 in the Syndicate 1200 portfolios related to the RiverStone
reinsurance-to-close (“RITC”) transaction.

Net Realized Investment Gains/Losses

Consolidated net realized investment losses of $5.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2021 included a $5.1 million decrease in the fair value of equity securities, $1.7 million net foreign currency exchange losses, $0.8 million in credit losses on fixed maturities and $1.4 million
loss on other transactions. Partially offsetting these losses was a $3.7 million net realized investment gain primarily related to the sales of fixed maturity and equity securities.

Consolidated net realized investment losses of $5.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2020 included a $10.5 million charge for credit  losses on fixed maturity securities and a $7.4 million net realized investment loss primarily related to sales of fixed maturity and equity
securities. Partially offsetting these realized losses was a $10.5 million increase in the fair value of equity securities during the third quarter of 2020 and $1.7 million realized gain related to net foreign currency exchange gains.

Consolidated net realized investment gains of $32.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 included a $30.7 million increase in the fair value of equity securities, $10.0 million related to the sales of fixed maturity securities and $3.8 million foreign currency exchange gain and a
$5.0 million gain related to meeting certain post-closing performance conditions on the previously disclosed sale of our former Trident Public Risk Solutions (“Trident”) brand and underwriting platform during the second quarter of 2020. Partially offsetting these gains was a $16.5 million
reduction in the original gain on Trident due to renegotiating the transaction agreements with the buyer to exclude certain lines of business and a $1.5 million charge for expected credit losses on fixed maturity securities.

Consolidated net realized investment losses of $24.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 included a $43.0 million charge for expected credit losses on fixed maturity securities, a $13.7 million decrease in the fair value of equity securities primarily attributable to the disruption
in global financial markets due to COVID-19, as well as $3.8 million related to net foreign currency exchange losses. Partially offsetting these losses was the $32.3 million gain recognized on the sale of Trident in the second quarter of 2020. The remaining $4.8 million net realized investment
gain primarily related to sales of fixed maturity and equity securities.
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Loss and Loss Adjustment Expenses

Loss and loss adjustment expenses was $311.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2021 compared to $328.9 million for the same period ended 2020. The consolidated loss ratio for the three months ended September 30, 2021 was 64.0%, compared to 73.8% for the same period in
2020, driven by lower catastrophe losses in the third quarter of 2021 (5.6 loss ratio points) compared to the third quarter of 2020 (16.0 loss ratio points). Catastrophe losses in the third quarter of 2021 included losses related to COVID-19 claims of $3.0 million, with the remaining $24.3 million
being attributable to $18.3 million from Hurricane Ida, $4.2 million in losses from various small U.S. storms and $1.8 million from an increase in the estimated loss from Winter Storm Uri that occurred in February 2021. The loss ratio was also unfavorably impacted by a 0.9 loss ratio point
increase in net prior-year reserve development, as we experienced net unfavorable prior-year reserve development (1.3 loss ratio point) for the three months ended September 30, 2021 as compared to net unfavorable prior-year reserve development (0.4 loss ratio point) for the three months
ended  September  30,  2020.  Included  in  the  net  unfavorable  prior-year  reserve  development  for  the  three  months  ended  September  30,  2021  was  $7.2  million  in  unfavorable  development  due  to  a  one-time  accounting  adjustment.  Additionally,  there  was  a  0.3  loss  ratio  percentage  point
improvement in the current accident year non-catastrophe loss ratio for the comparative periods.

Loss and loss adjustment expenses was $890.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 compared to $883.0 million for the same period ended 2020. The consolidated loss ratio for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 was 62.5%, compared to 67.2% for the same period in
2020, driven by a 0.8 loss ratio point improvement in the current accident year non-catastrophe loss ratio, largely due to Syndicate 1200 driven by rate improvements achieved over the last several quarters. The loss ratio was also favorably impacted by a 0.1 loss ratio point improvement in net
prior-year reserve development, as we experienced net unfavorable prior-year reserve development of $6.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, primarily attributable to the one time accounting adjustment. Net unfavorable prior-year reserve development was $6.1 million for
the nine months ended September 30, 2020. The period-over-period impact from catastrophe losses declined for the first nine months of 2021 compared to the same period in 2020 (3.8 loss ratio point favorable impact). Catastrophe losses in the first nine months of 2021 included losses related
to COVID-19 claims of $12.0 million, with the remaining $73.9 million being attributable to $47.4 million in losses resulting from Winter Storm Uri, $18.3 from Hurricane Ida and $8.2 million from various small U.S. storms.

The following table summarizes the above referenced prior-year loss reserve development for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 with respect to net loss reserves by line of business as of December 31, 2020. Our loss and loss adjustment expenses, including the prior-year loss reserve
development shown in the following table, are further discussed by reporting segment below under the heading “Segment Results.”

(in millions) Net Reserves 2020

Net Reserve 
Development 
(Favorable)/ 
Unfavorable Percent of 2020 Net Reserves

General liability $ 1,587.4 $ 29.3 1.8 %
Workers compensation 284.9 3.8 1.3 %
Syndicate Liability 239.1 1.5 0.6 %
Commercial multi-peril 233.4 (18.4) (7.9)%
Syndicate and US special property 108.0 13.3 12.3 %
Commercial auto liability 86.9 3.5 4.0 %
Syndicate specialty 76.0 (17.2) (22.6)%
Fidelity/Surety 38.4 (10.7) (27.9)%
All other lines 252.0 0.9 0.4 

Total $ 2,906.1 $ 6.0 0.2 %

Consolidated gross reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses were $5,439.5 million (including $140.7 million of reserves attributable to our Syndicate 1200 and 1910 trade capital providers) and $5,390.0 million (including $230.6 million of reserves attributable to our Syndicate 1200 and
1910 trade capital providers) as of September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Our management has recorded its best estimate of loss reserves at each date based on current known facts and circumstances. Due to the significant uncertainties inherent in the estimation of loss reserves, it is
possible that future loss development, favorable or unfavorable, may occur.
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Underwriting, Acquisition and Insurance Expenses

Consolidated underwriting, acquisition and insurance expenses for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 were $177.1 million and $530.8 million, respectively, compared to $161.9 million and $489.8 million for the same periods ending 2020. The expense ratio of 36.3% in the
third quarter of 2021 was flat compared to the prior year third quarter as improvement in U.S. Operations was offset by a higher expense ratio in International Operations. The acquisition expense ratio of 17.1% and general and administrative expense ratio of 19.2% were both flat compared to
the prior year third quarter. The expense ratios for the comparative nine month periods ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 were 37.3% and 37.2%, respectively.

Our underwriting, acquisition and insurance expenses are further discussed below by reporting segment under the heading “Segment Results.”

Interest Expense

Consolidated interest expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 was $5.5 million and $16.3 million, respectively, compared to $6.9 million and $21.7 million for the same periods in 2020. The decreases were due to a lower debt balance due to paying off our $125 million
term loan in September 2020, as well as significant reductions in short-term LIBOR rates during the first three and nine months of 2021 as compared to the same periods in 2020.

Foreign Currency Exchange Gains/Losses

Consolidated foreign currency exchange gains were $1.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2021. Consolidated foreign currency exchange losses were $4.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021. Consolidated foreign currency exchange losses were $8.4 million
and $13.6 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, respectively.  The foreign currency exchange losses were due to fluctuations of the U.S. Dollar,  on a weighted average basis,  against the currencies in which we transact our business. For the three months ended
September 30, 2021, the foreign currency exchange gains were primarily driven by the U.S. Dollar strengthening against all major currencies. For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, the foreign currency exchange losses were primarily driven by the U.S. Dollar weakening against the
Canadian Dollar, Euro and the British Pound. For the three months ended September 30, 2020, the foreign currency exchange losses were primarily driven by the U.S. Dollar weakening against the Euro, British Pound, Canadian Dollar and Australian Dollar, as there was increased volatility in
currency markets. For the nine months ended September 30, 2020, the foreign currency exchange losses were primarily driven by the U.S. Dollar weakening against Euro.

Non-Operating Expenses

Non-operating expenses represent costs not associated with our ongoing insurance or other operations, including severance expenses, certain legal costs, merger and acquisition and other transaction-related expenses, and certain non-recurring expenses. Non-operating expenses for the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2021 of $8.2 million and $20.9 million, respectively, primarily related to non-recurring costs associated with closing certain U.S. offices, severance expenses and retention bonuses, as compared to $3.0 million and $9.8 million for the same periods in 2020.
Certain prior year’s balances have been reclassified between underwriting, acquisition and insurance expenses and non-operating expenses to conform to current year’s presentation.

Income Tax Provision

The consolidated income tax provision represents the income tax expense or benefit associated with our operations based on the tax laws of the jurisdictions in which we operate. Therefore, the consolidated provision for income taxes represents taxes on net income for our Brazil, France,
Ireland, Italy, Malta, Switzerland, United Kingdom, and U.S. operations. The consolidated provision for income taxes was $5.8 million and $16.1 million, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, respectively, compared to $(3.4) million and $6.9 million for the same periods
ended 2020. The consolidated effective tax rates were 20.6% and 11.7% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, respectively, compared to consolidated effective tax rates of 12.9% and (14.8)% for the same periods ended 2020. The change in the effective tax rates for the three
and nine months ended September 30, 2021 was due to the jurisdictional mix of taxable income compared to the respective periods in 2020. The effective tax rates for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 were also impacted by recognizing pre-tax losses concentrated in
preferential taxing jurisdictions during those periods.
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Segment Results

We are primarily engaged in writing property and casualty insurance. We have two ongoing reporting segments: U.S. Operations and International Operations. Additionally, we have a Run-off Lines segment for products that we no longer underwrite.

We consider many factors, including the nature of each segment’s insurance products, production sources, distribution strategies and regulatory environment, in determining how to aggregate reporting segments.

Our reportable segments include four primary insurance services and offerings as follows:

• Property includes both property insurance and reinsurance products. Insurance products cover commercial properties primarily in North America with some international covers. Reinsurance covers underlying exposures located throughout the world, including the United States. These
offerings include coverages for man-made and natural disasters. With the sale of our reinsurance business in the fourth quarter of 2020, we do not anticipate writing significant new reinsurance business going forward.

• Liability includes a broad range of primary and excess casualty products primarily underwritten as insurance and, to a lesser extent reinsurance, for risks on both an admitted and non-admitted basis in the United States. Internationally, Argo Group underwrites non-U.S. casualty risks
primarily exposed in the United Kingdom, Canada and Australia.

• Professional includes various professional lines products including errors and omissions and management liability coverages (including directors and officers).

• Specialty includes niche insurance coverages including marine and energy, accident and health and surety product offerings.

In evaluating the operating performance of our segments, we focus on core underwriting and investing results before consideration of realized gains or losses from the sales of investments. Intersegment transactions are allocated to the segment that initiated the transaction. Realized investment
gains and losses are reported as a component of the Corporate and Other segment, as decisions regarding the acquisition and disposal of securities reside with the corporate investment function and are not under the control of the individual business segments. Although this measure of profit
(loss) does not replace net income (loss) computed in accordance with GAAP as a measure of profitability, management uses this measure of profit (loss) to focus our reporting segments on generating operating income.

Since we generally manage and monitor the investment portfolio on an aggregate basis, the overall performance of the investment portfolio, and related net investment income, is discussed above on a combined basis under consolidated net investment income rather than within or by segment.

U.S. Operations

The following table summarizes the results of operations for U.S. Operations:

 
For the Three Months Ended 

September 30,
For the Nine Months Ended 

September 30,
(in millions) 2021 2020 2021 2020

Gross written premiums $ 562.5 $ 542.4 $ 1,564.9 $ 1,499.1
Earned premiums $ 323.5 $ 298.7 $ 952.4 $ 902.8
Losses and loss adjustment expenses 203.9 205.5 583.1 566.3
Underwriting, acquisition and insurance expenses 104.7 98.2 318.2 289.6

Underwriting income 14.9 (5.0) 51.1 46.9
Net investment income 29.2 30.1 91.7 56.1
Interest expense (3.5) (4.0) (10.6) (13.1)
Fee and other income (expense), net (0.1) (0.1) (0.6) (0.5)
Non-operating expenses (0.6) (0.9) (1.5) (1.2)

Income before income taxes $ 39.9 $ 20.1 $ 130.1 $ 88.2
Loss ratio 63.0 % 68.8 % 61.2 % 62.7 %
Expense ratio 32.4 % 32.9 % 33.4 % 32.1 %
Combined ratio 95.4 % 101.7 % 94.6 % 94.8 %
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The following table contains reconciliations of certain non-GAAP financial measures, specifically the current accident year non-catastrophe loss, expense and combined ratios, to their most directly comparable GAAP measures for our U.S. Operations.
For the Three Months Ended September 30,

2021 2020
(in millions) Amount Ratio Amount Ratio
Earned premiums $ 323.5 $ 298.7 

Losses and loss adjustment expenses, as reported $ 203.9 63.0 % $ 205.5 68.8 %
Less:

Favorable (unfavorable) prior accident year loss development (0.2) (0.1)% 3.2 1.1 %
Catastrophe losses, including COVID-19 (10.0) (3.1)% (26.3) (8.8)%

Current accident year non-catastrophe losses (non-GAAP) $ 193.7 59.8 % $ 182.4 61.1 %
Expense ratio 32.4 % 32.9 %
Current accident year non-catastrophe combined ratio (non-GAAP) 92.2 % 94.0 %

For the Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021 2020

(in millions) Amount Ratio Amount Ratio
Earned premiums $ 952.4 $ 902.8 

Losses and loss adjustment expenses, as reported 583.1 61.2 % 566.3 62.7 %
Less:

Favorable prior accident year loss development 0.7 0.1 % 0.5 0.1 %
Catastrophe losses, including COVID-19 (32.9) (3.5)% (42.3) (4.7)%

Current accident year non-catastrophe losses (non-GAAP) $ 550.9 57.8 % $ 524.5 58.1 %
Expense ratio 33.4 % 32.1 %
Current accident year non-catastrophe combined ratio (non-GAAP) 91.2 % 90.2 %

Gross Written and Earned Premiums

Gross written and earned premiums by our four primary insurance lines were as follows:
 For the Three Months Ended September 30,
 2021 2020
(in millions) Gross Written Net Earned Gross Written Net Earned
Property $ 73.5 $ 35.7 $ 90.8 $ 36.6 
Liability 306.3 170.1 291.6 165.2 
Professional 129.8 81.3 111.7 63.3 
Specialty 52.9 36.4 48.3 33.6 

Total $ 562.5 $ 323.5 $ 542.4 $ 298.7 

For the Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021 2020

Gross Written Net Earned Gross Written Net Earned
Property $ 203.2 $ 116.5 $ 237.5 $ 117.3 
Liability 837.8 501.2 804.4 507.4 
Professional 362.0 227.7 312.7 177.4 
Specialty 161.9 107.0 144.5 100.7 

Total $ 1,564.9 $ 952.4 $ 1,499.1 $ 902.8 
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Property

Gross written premiums for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 decreased compared to the same periods in 2020 due to initiatives to improve profitability and reduce catastrophe exposure in contract binding, excess and surplus (“E&S”) property business units and public entity
business program. New business growth from the garage and inland marine business units partially offset this decrease. The decrease in net earned premium for the three months and nine months ended September 30, 2021 compared to the same periods in 2020 was also a result of reduced
production from the contract binding, E&S property business units and public entity business program, partially offset by growth from the inland marine and garage business units.

Liability

The increase in gross written premiums for the three months and nine months ended September 30, 2021 compared to the same periods in 2020 was primarily driven by growth from business units which are targeted for growth and investment that write general liability and environmental lines
as well as a new fronted program that writes general liability. This increase was partially offset by planned reductions in the contract binding business unit and grocery and restaurant classes. The increase in net earned premium for the three months ended September 30, 2021 compared to the
same period in 2020 was also driven by the same factors noted above. The decrease in net earned premium for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 compared to the same period in 2020 due was primarily a result of increased ceded premium. As the recovering economy spurred growth in
gross earned premium in general liability, workers compensation and environmental lines, favorable reinsurance terms brought about increased ceded premiums and thus reduced net earned premium.

Professional

The growth in gross written and net earned premiums for the three and nine months ending September 30, 2021 compared to the same periods in 2020 was driven by the favorable rate environment for the directors and officers products, new business growth from the errors and omissions
products and the delegated authority programs.

Specialty

Gross written and net earned premiums for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 increased compared to the same periods in 2020 due to growth achieved primarily in surety.

Loss and Loss Adjustment Expenses

Loss and loss adjustment expenses were $203.9 million and $205.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The loss ratio for the third quarter of 2021 was 63.0% compared to 68.8% for the third quarter of 2020. The decreased loss ratio was driven by a
5.7 loss ratio point decline in catastrophe losses, which includes COVID-19 claims and a 1.3 loss ratio point decline in the current accident year non-catastrophe loss ratio. The impact from net unfavorable prior-year reserve development was 0.1 loss ratio points for the third quarter of 2021
compared to 1.1 loss ratio points of favorable reserve development for the third quarter of 2020.

Loss and loss adjustment expenses were $583.1 million and $566.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The loss ratios for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 were 61.2% and 62.7%, respectively. The reduced loss ratio in the first
nine months of 2021 was driven by a 1.2 loss ratio point impact from a decrease in catastrophe losses, which includes COVID-19-related claims in 2020, as well as an improvement of 0.3 loss ratio point in the current accident year non-catastrophe loss ratio. The impact from net favorable prior-
year reserve development was 0.1 loss ratio points for each of the comparative periods.

The current accident year non-catastrophe loss ratios for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 were 59.8% and 57.8%, respectively, compared to 61.1% and 58.1% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, respectively. The current accident year non-catastrophe
loss ratio for the three months ended September 30, 2020 was impacted by an increase to the professional loss ratio and a large property loss.

Net unfavorable prior-year reserve development for the third quarter of 2021 was $0.2 million. Net favorable prior year development for the first nine months of 2021 was $0.7 million. The net favorable prior year reserve development for the first nine months of 2021 primarily related to our
surety business unit  partially  offset  by unfavorable  movements  in liability  and professional  lines.  Net  favorable prior-year  reserve development for  the third quarter  of  2020 was $3.2 million and primarily related to favorable  development  in specialty  lines,  partially  offset  by unfavorable
development in professional, liability and property lines. Net favorable prior year development for the first nine months of 2020 was $0.5 million, driven predominantly by favorable development in specialty lines, largely offset by unfavorable development in professional, liability and property
lines.
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Catastrophe losses for the third quarter and first nine months of 2021 were $10.0 million and $32.9 million, respectively. The third quarter losses were $5.8 million from Hurricane Ida and $4.2 million from various small U.S. storms. The losses for the first nine months were due to $18.9
million from Winter Storm Uri, $8.2 million from various small U.S. storms and $5.8 million from Hurricane Ida. Catastrophe losses for the third quarter and first nine months of 2020 were $26.3 million and $42.3 million, respectively. The COVID-19 net incurred losses decreased by $2.0
million during the third quarter of 2020 and increased by $6.5 million for the first nine months of 2020. The remaining catastrophe losses for the third quarter and first nine months of 2020 were mainly attributable to various small U.S. storms and losses associated with civil unrest and social
demonstrations, including riots in some locations, across the U.S.

Underwriting, Acquisition and Insurance Expenses

Underwriting, acquisition and insurance expense were $104.7 million and $318.2 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, respectively, compared to $98.2 million and $289.6 million for the same periods in 2020. The expense ratios for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2021 were 32.4% and 33.4%, respectively, compared to 32.9% and 32.1% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020. The improvement in the expense ratio for the third quarter was primarily due to higher ceding commissions and growth in net earned premiums
outpacing growth in the non-acquisition expenses. The decline in the expense ratio for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 was due to higher acquisition expenses as a result of business mix, higher gross commissions and lower ceding commissions.

International Operations

The following table summarizes the results of operations for International Operations:

 
For the Three Months Ended 

September 30,
For the Nine Months Ended 

September 30,
(in millions) 2021 2020 2021 2020

Gross written premiums $ 312.9 $ 347.7 $ 881.9 $ 1,016.2
Earned premiums $ 163.9 $ 146.7 $ 471.1 $ 410.8
Losses and loss adjustment expenses 103.8 113.0 301.2 305.6
Underwriting, acquisition and insurance expenses 64.7 56.9 188.8 174.8

Underwriting loss (4.6) (23.2) (18.9) (69.6)
Net investment income 12.3 9.9 38.2 19.0
Interest expense (1.3) (1.9) (4.2) (6.2)
Fee and other (expense) income, net 1.0 0.7 1.5 2.5
Non-operating expenses (0.5) (0.2) (2.0) (0.2)

Income (loss) before income taxes $ 6.9 $ (14.7) $ 14.6 $ (54.5)
Loss ratio 63.3 % 77.1 % 63.9 % 74.4 %
Expense ratio 39.5 % 38.7 % 40.1 % 42.5 %
Combined ratio 102.8 % 115.8 % 104.0 % 116.9 %

40



Table of Contents

The  following  table  contains  reconciliations  of  certain  non-GAAP  financial  measures,  specifically  the  current  accident  year  non-catastrophe  loss,  expense  and  combined  ratios,  to  their  most  directly  comparable  GAAP  measures  for  our  International  Operations.
For the Three Months Ended September 30,

2021 2020
(in millions) Amount Ratio Amount Ratio
Earned premiums $ 163.9 $ 146.7 

Losses and loss adjustment expenses, as reported $ 103.8 63.3 % $ 113.0 77.1 %
Less:

Favorable (unfavorable) prior accident year loss development (2.0) (1.2)% 5.6 3.8 %
Catastrophe losses, including COVID-19 (17.3) (10.5)% (44.9) (30.6)%

Current accident year non-catastrophe losses (non-GAAP) $ 84.5 51.6 % $ 73.7 50.3 %
Expense ratio 39.5 % 38.7 %
Current accident year non-catastrophe combined ratio (non-GAAP) 91.1 % 89.0 %

For the Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021 2020

(in millions) Amount Ratio Amount Ratio
Earned premiums $ 471.1 $ 410.8 

Losses and loss adjustment expenses, as reported 301.2 63.9 % 305.6 74.4 %
Less:

Favorable (unfavorable) prior accident year loss development (0.1) — % 4.5 1.1 %
Catastrophe losses, including COVID-19 (53.0) (11.2)% (85.9) (21.0)%

Current accident year non-catastrophe losses (non-GAAP) $ 248.1 52.7 % $ 224.2 54.5 %
Expense ratio 40.1 % 42.5 %
Current accident year non-catastrophe combined ratio (non-GAAP) 92.8 % 97.0 %

Gross Written and Earned Premiums

Gross written and earned premiums by our four primary insurance and reinsurance lines were as follows:
 For the Three Months Ended September 30,
 2021 2020
(in millions) Gross Written Net Earned Gross Written Net Earned
Property $ 87.3 $ 28.3 $ 161.0 $ 44.3 
Liability 69.2 33.5 73.4 26.7 
Professional 62.5 43.8 49.7 29.9 
Specialty 93.9 58.3 63.6 45.8 

Total $ 312.9 $ 163.9 $ 347.7 $ 146.7 
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For the Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021 2020

(in millions) Gross Written Net Earned Gross Written Net Earned
Property $ 247.8 $ 104.2 $ 416.5 $ 115.6 
Liability 192.0 99.2 185.8 73.0 
Professional 168.7 113.3 156.7 88.0 
Specialty 273.4 154.4 257.2 134.2 

Total $ 881.9 $ 471.1 $ 1,016.2 $ 410.8 

Property

The decrease in gross written premiums for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 as compared to the same periods in 2020 was primarily due to the sale of Ariel Re. The sale of Ariel Re also drove the decrease in net earned premiums for the three months ended September 30,
2021 as compared to the same period in 2020. The decrease in net earned premiums for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 as compared to the same period in 2020 was driven by the sale of Ariel Re, partially offset by growth in Syndicate 1200 due to reducing our use of third-party
capital at Lloyd’s, continued improvement in the rate environment and a reduction in ceded premium due to the non-renewal of a multi-year reinsurance contract following the reductions in gross catastrophe exposures during the first quarter of 2021. However, a mid-year property catastrophe
reinsurance cover was purchased on a groupwide basis to manage exposures through the windstorm season.

Liability

The reduction in gross written premiums for the three months ended September 30, 2021 as compared to the same period in 2020 was primarily due to the sale of Ariel Re and lower premium from our European Operations where we have stopped writing new business. This was partially offset
by growth in Syndicate 1200, where for 2021 we introduced the International Casualty Treaty Reinsurance Business. The increase in gross written premiums for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 as compared to the same periods in 2020 was driven by the aforementioned premium
growth in Syndicate 1200, combined with growth in Bermuda Insurance where we are benefiting from favorable rate changes and new business accounts, partially offset by lower premiums due to the sale of Ariel Re and placing our European Operations into run-off. These factors also drove
the increase in net earned premiums for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 as compared to the same period in 2020.

Professional

The increase in gross written premiums for the three months and nine months ended September 30, 2021 as compared to the same period in 2020 was driven by Syndicate 1200 as a result of favorable rate changes and increased new business opportunities, partially offset by lower premium from
our European Operations, which have been placed into run-off. The increase in net earned premiums for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 as compared to the same periods in 2020 was due to increases in Syndicate 1200 from reducing our use of third-party capital at Lloyd’s
and the favorable rate environment, as well as growth in Bermuda Insurance driven by favorable rate changes and new business opportunities.

Specialty

The increase in gross written premiums for the three months ended September 30, 2021 as compared to the same period in 2020 was driven by growth in Syndicate 1200 arising from political risks, and the new political violence class of business. The increase in gross written premiums for the
nine months ended September 30, 2021 as compared to the same period in 2020 was primarily driven by growth in Syndicate 1200, arising from political risks and the new political violence class of business, partially offset by lower premium due to the sale of Ariel Re. The increase in net
earned premiums for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 as compared to the same periods in 2020 was driven by Syndicate 1200 due to the aforementioned premium growth and decreased use of third-party capital at Lloyd’s, as well as our Latin American operation as a result
of growth in our Brazilian cargo marine business.

Loss and Loss Adjustment Expenses

Loss and loss adjustment expenses were $103.8 million and $113.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The loss ratio for the third quarter of 2021 was 63.3% compared to 77.1% for the third quarter of 2020. The decreased loss ratio was driven by a
20.1  loss  ratio  point  decrease  in  catastrophe  losses,  which  includes  COVID-19 claims,  partially  offset  by  a  1.3  loss  ratio  point  increase  in  the  current  accident  year  non-catastrophe  loss  ratio,  and  a  5.0  loss  ratio  point  period-over-period  increase  in  the  net  unfavorable  prior-year  reserve
development.
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Loss and loss adjustment expenses were $301.2 million and $305.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The loss ratios for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 were 63.9% and 74.4%, respectively. The decreased loss ratio in the first
nine months of 2021 was driven by a 9.8 loss ratio point decrease in catastrophe losses, which includes COVID-19 claims and a 1.8 loss ratio point decrease in the current accident year non-catastrophe loss ratio, partially offset by a 1.1 loss ratio point period-over-period increase in the net
unfavorable prior-year reserve development.

The current accident year non-catastrophe loss ratios for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 were 51.6% and 52.7%, respectively, compared to 50.3% and 54.5% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020. The increase in the ratio for the comparative three month
periods is primarily due to ceded reinsurance reinstatement premiums associated with Hurricane Ida in 2021. Also, the three months ended September 30, 2020 benefited from reduced claim activity due to the economic slowdown. The decrease in the ratio for the comparative nine month period
is primarily due to rate improvements achieved over the last several quarters and a decrease in large loss activity in Syndicate 1200.

Net unfavorable prior-year reserve development was $2.0 million for the third quarter of 2021, primarily related to $7.2 million in unfavorable development due to a one-time accounting adjustment, partially offset by favorable liability experience in Syndicate 1200. Net unfavorable prior-year
reserve development was $0.1 million for the first nine months of 2021, primarily related to unfavorable development due to the one-time accounting adjustment and large claim movements at Argo Insurance Bermuda, partially offset by favorable development in property lines, including losses
associated with prior year catastrophe losses. Net unfavorable prior-year reserve development for the third quarter of 2020 was $5.6 million and primarily related to favorable development in Reinsurance and Syndicate 1200, with smaller movements in other businesses.  The Reinsurance
movement was due to favorable experience on events from older accident years. The Syndicate 1200 movement was due to favorable experience on property lines in recent accident years. Net favorable prior-year reserve development for the first nine months of 2020 was $4.5 million and
primarily related to the favorable development in the third quarter of 2020 in Syndicate 1200 and Reinsurance, partially offset by unfavorable development in Bermuda Insurance.

Catastrophe losses for the third quarter and first nine months of 2021 were $17.3 million and $53.0 million, respectively, primarily due to Winter Storm Uri, Hurricane Ida and COVID-19. Catastrophe losses for the third quarter and first nine months of 2021 included $3.0 million and $12.0
million, respectively, associated with COVID-19, primarily resulting from contingency exposures. Catastrophe losses for the third quarter and first nine months of 2020 were $44.9 million and $85.9 million, respectively, which included $18.9 million and $54.0 million, respectively, associated
with COVID-19, primarily resulting from contingency and property exposures. The property losses relate to business interruption coverage in certain international markets, including potential litigation costs. The remaining catastrophe losses for the third quarter and first nine months of 2020
were mainly attributable to storms in Europe and losses associated with civil unrest and social demonstrations, including riots in some locations, across the U.S.
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Underwriting, Acquisition and Insurance Expenses

Underwriting, acquisition and insurance expense were $64.7 million and $188.8 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, respectively, compared to $56.9 million and $174.8 million for the same periods in 2020. The expense ratio for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2021 were 39.5% and 40.1%, respectively, compared to 38.7% and 42.5% for the same periods in 2020. The increase in the expense ratio for the three months ended September 30, 2021 was primarily driven by decreased earned premiums due to reinstatement premiums on
outwards placed reinsurance. The improvement in the expense ratio for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 was driven by growth in net earned premiums, which exceeded the growth in non-acquisition expenses and were coupled with reduced acquisition expense ratios primarily due to
mix of business.

Run-off Lines

The following table summarizes the results of operations for Run-off Lines:

 
For the Three Months Ended 

September 30,
For the Nine Months Ended 

September 30,
(in millions) 2021 2020 2021 2020
Earned premiums $ 0.1 $ 0.1 $ 0.4 $ 0.3 
Losses and loss adjustment expenses 4.0 10.4 6.6 11.1 
Underwriting, acquisition and insurance expenses 0.5 0.5 0.8 1.6 

Underwriting loss (4.4) (10.8) (7.0) (12.4)
Net investment income 0.9 1.5 2.8 2.8 
Interest expense (0.1) (0.2) (0.3) (0.7)

Loss before income taxes $ (3.6) $ (9.5) $ (4.5) $ (10.3)

Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses

Losses and loss adjustment expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2021 were the result of unfavorable loss reserve development on prior accident years in risk management workers compensation and an individual environmental loss. Loss and loss adjustment expenses for the three
months ended September 30, 2020 were the result of unfavorable loss reserve development on prior accident years in asbestos and environmental driven by asbestos claims remaining open longer than expected, higher defense costs and movement on individual environmental claims as well as
unfavorable development in other run-off lines, partially offset by favorable development in risk management workers compensation.

Losses and loss adjustment expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 were the result of unfavorable loss reserve development on prior accident years in risk management workers compensation, other run-off lines and an individual environmental loss. Losses and loss adjustment
expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 were the result of unfavorable loss reserve development on prior accident years in asbestos and environmental and other run-off lines, partially offset by favorable development in risk management workers compensation.

The following table represents a rollforward of total gross and net reserves for the asbestos and environmental exposures in our Run-off Lines, along with the ending balances of all other reserves within Run-off Lines. Amounts in the net column are reduced by reinsurance recoverables.
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For the Nine Months Ended September 30,
2021 2020

(in millions) Gross Net Gross Net
Asbestos and environmental:

Loss reserves, beginning of the year $ 59.3 $ 50.6 $ 52.6 $ 43.8 
Incurred losses 2.5 2.4 20.0 17.1 
Losses paid (9.2) (7.9) (8.7) (6.9)

Loss reserves - asbestos and environmental, end of period 52.6 45.1 63.9 54.0 
Risk-management reserves 165.6 103.2 164.4 102.2 
Run-off reinsurance reserves — — 0.5 0.5 
Other run-off lines 12.3 7.3 15.7 10.1 
Total loss reserves - Run-off Lines $ 230.5 $ 155.6 $ 244.5 $ 166.8 

Underwriting, Acquisition and Insurance Expenses

Underwriting, acquisition and insurance expenses for Run-off Lines consist primarily of administrative expenses. The decreases in underwriting expenses for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, as compared to the same periods ended 2020, were primarily attributable to lower
overhead expenses.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash Flows

The primary sources of our cash flows are premiums, reinsurance recoveries,  proceeds from sales and redemptions of investments and investment income. The primary cash outflows are claim payments, loss adjustment expenses, reinsurance costs, purchases of investments and operating
expenses. Additional cash outflow occurs through payments of underwriting and acquisition costs such as commissions, taxes, payroll and general overhead expenses. Our management believes that cash receipts from premiums, proceeds from investment sales and redemptions and investment
income are sufficient to cover cash outflows for at least the next twelve months. Should the need for additional cash arise, we believe we will have access to additional sources of liquidity.

Our liquidity and capital resources were not materially impacted by COVID-19 and related economic conditions during the first nine months of 2021.

On October 12, 2020, ArgoGlobal, the Lloyd’s insurer and member of Argo Group, announced a RITC transaction with legacy specialist RiverStone. Upon completion of the transaction, RiverStone undertook an RITC of ArgoGlobal’s Syndicate 1200 for 2017 and prior years with net technical
provision of approximately $250.0 million. The transaction received regulatory approval on February 1, 2021, with the RITC becoming effective on January 1, 2021, and had no impact on our consolidated results of operations.

Cash provided by operating activities can fluctuate due to timing differences in the collection of premiums and reinsurance recoveries and the payment of losses, expenses and outward reinsurance premiums. For the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, net cash provided by
operating activities was $40.8 million and $101.4 million, respectively. The decrease in net cash flows provided by operating activities for the first nine months of 2021, as compared to the same period in 2020, was attributable to various fluctuations within our operating activities, and primarily
related to the timing of reinsurance recoveries and premium cash receipts in the respective periods.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, net cash provided by investing activities was $50.6 million and $80.7 million, respectively. The decrease in cash provided by investing was mainly the result of the decrease in the proceeds from sale of fixed maturities and short-term
investments, partially offset by a decrease in cash used to purchase fixed maturities and an increase in the proceeds from maturities of fixed maturities. As of September 30, 2021, $508.6 million of the investment portfolio was invested in short-term investments.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, net cash used in financing activities was $39.4 million and $13.8 million, respectively. During the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, we did not repurchase any common shares. We paid cash dividends to our common
shareholders  totaling  $32.7  million  and  $32.2  million  during  the  nine  months  ended  September  30,  2021  and  2020,  respectively.  We  paid  cash  dividends  to  our  preferred  shareholders  totaling  $7.9  million  and  $2.0  million  during  the  nine  months  ended  September  30,  2021  and  2020,
respectively.
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Argo Common Shares and Dividends

For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, our Board of Directors declared quarterly cash dividends in the aggregate amount of $0.93 per share. Cash dividends paid for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 totaled $32.7 million.

On November 5, 2021, our Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend in the amount of $0.31 on each share of common stock outstanding. The dividend will be paid on December 15, 2021 to our shareholders of record on November 30, 2021.

On May 3, 2016, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $150.0 million of our common shares (“2016 Repurchase Authorization”). The 2016 Repurchase Authorization superseded all the previous repurchase authorizations. The program allows the Company to repurchase its
shares opportunistically from time to time when it believes that doing so would enhance long-term shareholder value. The repurchase authorization does not have a fixed expiration. Purchases may be effected through one or more open market transactions, privately negotiated transactions,
transactions with financial institutions or a combination of the foregoing. Shares purchased are being held as treasury shares in accordance with the provisions of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981. As of September 30, 2021, availability under the 2016 Repurchase Authorization for future
repurchases of our common shares was $53.3 million.

Preferred Stock Dividends

For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, our Board of Directors declared quarterly cash dividends in the aggregate amount of $1,312.500 per share on our Series A Preference Shares. Cash dividends paid for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 totaled $7.9 million.

On November 5, 2021, our Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend in the amount of $437.500 per share on our Series A Preference Shares. Holders of Depositary Shares each representing a 1/1,000th interest in a share of Series A Preferred Stock will receive $0.437500 per
Depositary Share. The dividend will be paid on December 15, 2021 to our shareholders of record on November 30, 2021.

Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan

On November 2, 2018, each of Argo Group, Argo Group U.S., Inc., Argo International Holdings Limited, and Argo Underwriting Agency Limited (the “Borrowers”) entered into a $325 million credit agreement (the "Credit Agreement") with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative
agent. The Credit Agreement replaced the prior $325 million Credit Agreement (the “Prior Agreement”), dated as of March 3, 2017. In addition, the Credit Agreement provided for a $200 million revolving credit facility, and the commitments thereunder shall expire on November 2, 2023 unless
extended in accordance with the terms of the Credit Agreement.

Borrowings under the Credit Agreement may be used for general corporate purposes, including working capital and permitted acquisitions, and each of the Borrowers have agreed to be jointly and severally liable for the obligations of the other Borrowers under the Credit Agreement.

The Credit Agreement contains customary events of default.  If an event of default  occurs and is continuing, the Borrowers could be required to repay all amounts outstanding under the Credit Agreement. Lenders holding at least a majority of the loans and commitments under the Credit
Agreement could elect to accelerate the maturity of the loans and/or terminate the commitments under the Credit Agreement upon the occurrence and during the continuation of an event of default. No defaults or events of defaults have occurred as of the date of this filing.

Included in the Credit Agreement is a provision that allows up to $200.0 million of the revolving credit facility to be used for letters of credit (“LOCs”), subject to availability. As of September 30, 2021, there were no borrowings outstanding and $40.3 million in LOCs against the revolving
credit facility.

Senior Notes

In September 2012, Argo Group (the “Parent Guarantor”),  through its subsidiary Argo Group US (the “Subsidiary Issuer”),  issued $144 million aggregate principal  amount of the Subsidiary Issuer’s 6.5% Senior Notes due September 15, 2042 (the “Notes”).  The Notes are unsecured and
unsubordinated obligations of the Subsidiary Issuer and rank equally in right of payment with all  of the Subsidiary Issuer’s other unsecured and unsubordinated debt.  The Notes are guaranteed on a full and unconditional senior unsecured basis by the Parent Guarantor. The Notes may be
redeemed, for cash, in whole or in part, on or after September 15, 2017, at the Subsidiary Issuer’s option, at any time and from time to time, prior to maturity at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued but unpaid interest on the
principal amount being redeemed to, but not including, the redemption date.
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In accordance with Article 10 of SEC Regulation S-X, we have elected to present condensed consolidating financial information in lieu of separate financial statements for the Subsidiary Issuer. The following tables present condensed consolidating financial information at September 30, 2021
and December 31, 2020 and for the nine months ended September 30, 2021, of the Parent Guarantor and the Subsidiary Issuer. The Subsidiary Issuer is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Parent Guarantor. Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for by the Parent Guarantor under the
equity method for purposes of the supplemental consolidating presentation. Earnings of subsidiaries are reflected in the Parent Guarantor’s investment accounts and earnings.

The Parent Guarantor fully and unconditionally guarantees certain of the debt of the Subsidiary Issuer. Condensed consolidating financial information of the Subsidiary Issuer is presented on a consolidated basis and consists principally of the net assets and results of operations of operating
insurance company subsidiaries.
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEET
SEPTEMBER 30, 2021

(in millions)
(Unaudited)

Argo Group 
International 
Holdings, Ltd. 

(Parent Guarantor)

Argo Group US, Inc. 
and Subsidiaries 

(Subsidiary Issuer)
Other Subsidiaries
and Eliminations 

Consolidating
Adjustments Total

Assets
Investments $ 15.0 $ 3,863.4 $ 1,435.1 $ — $ 5,313.5 
Cash 1.9 38.2 161.9 — 202.0 
Accrued investment income — 16.8 4.1 — 20.9 
Premiums receivable — 318.8 383.1 — 701.9 
Reinsurance recoverables — 1,798.4 1,155.6 — 2,954.0 
Goodwill and other intangible assets, net — 118.5 89.3 — 207.8 
Current income taxes receivable, net — — 3.8 — 3.8 
Deferred tax assets, net — 11.8 31.0 — 42.8 
Deferred acquisition costs, net — 106.2 69.5 — 175.7 
Ceded unearned premiums — 358.1 214.0 — 572.1 
Operating lease right-of-use assets 5.6 58.4 23.7 — 87.7 
Other assets 7.2 106.9 117.3 — 231.4 
Assets held for sale — 4.2 0.3 — 4.5 
Intercompany notes receivable — 70.6 (70.6) — — 
Investments in subsidiaries 1,893.1 — — (1,893.1) — 

Total assets $ 1,922.8 $ 6,870.3 $ 3,618.1 $ (1,893.1) $ 10,518.1 
Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity

Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses $ — $ 3,543.6 $ 1,895.9 $ — $ 5,439.5 
Unearned premiums — 1,002.8 537.4 — 1,540.2 
Funds held and ceded reinsurance payable, net — 481.4 356.6 — 838.0 
Debt 28.4 284.6 144.1 — 457.1 
Current income taxes payable, net — 9.5 (9.5) — — 

Accrued underwriting expenses and other liabilities 3.2 111.7 140.3 — 255.2 
Operating lease liabilities 5.5 66.3 28.7 — 100.5 
Due to (from) affiliates (1.9) (0.7) 0.7 1.9 — 

Total liabilities 35.2 5,499.2 3,094.2 1.9 8,630.5 
Total shareholders' equity 1,887.6 1,371.1 523.9 (1,895.0) 1,887.6 

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity $ 1,922.8 $ 6,870.3 $ 3,618.1 $ (1,893.1) $ 10,518.1 

Includes all other subsidiaries of Argo Group International Holdings, Ltd. and all intercompany eliminations.
Includes all Argo Group parent company eliminations.

(1) (2)

(1)

(2)
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEET
DECEMBER 31, 2020

(in millions)
Argo Group 
International 
Holdings, Ltd. 

(Parent Guarantor)

Argo Group US, Inc. 
and Subsidiaries 

(Subsidiary Issuer)
Other Subsidiaries
and Eliminations 

Consolidating
Adjustments Total

Assets
Investments $ 0.6 $ 3,628.8 $ 1,626.4 $ — $ 5,255.8 
Cash 3.0 17.4 128.4 — 148.8 
Accrued investment income — 16.7 5.1 — 21.8 
Premiums receivable — 267.5 412.3 — 679.8 
Reinsurance recoverables — 1,761.2 1,247.8 — 3,009.0 
Goodwill and other intangible assets, net — 118.5 89.3 — 207.8 
Current income taxes receivable, net — (5.6) 8.6 — 3.0 
Deferred tax assets, net — (4.6) 21.3 — 16.7 
Deferred acquisition costs, net — 97.1 66.5 — 163.6 
Ceded unearned premiums — 340.6 234.5 — 575.1 
Operating lease right-of-use assets 6.2 51.7 24.1 — 82.0 
Other assets 14.5 153.5 126.7 — 294.7 
Assets held for sale — 7.4 0.3 — 7.7 
Intercompany note receivable — 59.0 (59.0) — — 
Investments in subsidiaries 1,881.9 — — (1,881.9) — 

Total assets $ 1,906.2 $ 6,509.2 $ 3,932.3 $ (1,881.9) $ 10,465.8 
Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity

Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses $ — $ 3,348.7 $ 2,057.3 $ — $ 5,406.0 
Unearned premiums — 951.2 513.6 — 1,464.8 

Funds held and ceded reinsurance payable, net — 489.0 526.1 — 1,015.1 
Debt 28.4 284.5 145.8 — 458.7 

Accrued underwriting expenses and other liabilities 6.3 67.8 93.5 — 167.6 
Operating lease liabilities 6.2 60.4 29.2 — 95.8 
Due to (from) affiliates 7.5 0.9 (0.9) (7.5) — 

Total liabilities 48.4 5,202.5 3,364.6 (7.5) 8,608.0 
Total shareholders' equity 1,857.8 1,306.7 567.7 (1,874.4) 1,857.8 

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity $ 1,906.2 $ 6,509.2 $ 3,932.3 $ (1,881.9) $ 10,465.8 

Includes all other subsidiaries of Argo Group International Holdings, Ltd. and all intercompany eliminations.
Includes all Argo Group parent company eliminations.

(1)  (2)

(1)

(2)
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF INCOME
FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2021

(in millions)
(Unaudited)

Argo Group 
International 
Holdings, Ltd 

(Parent Guarantor)

Argo Group US, Inc. 
and Subsidiaries 

(Subsidiary Issuer)
Other Subsidiaries 
and Eliminations (1)

Consolidating 
Adjustments (2) Total

Premiums and other revenue:
Earned premiums $ — $ 947.9 $ 476.0 $ — $ 1,423.9 
Net investment income — 101.1 42.1 — 143.2 
Net realized investment (losses) gains — 26.3 6.2 — 32.5 

Total revenue — 1,075.3 524.3 — 1,599.6 
Expenses:

Losses and loss adjustment expenses — 580.3 310.6 — 890.9 

Underwriting, acquisition and insurance expenses 0.4 339.8 190.6 — 530.8 
Non-operating expenses 1.3 17.7 1.9 — 20.9 
Interest expense 0.9 11.1 4.3 — 16.3 
Fee and other expense (income), net — (0.2) (1.6) — (1.8)
Foreign currency exchange losses — — 4.4 — 4.4 

Total expenses 2.6 948.7 510.2 — 1,461.5 
(Loss) income before income taxes (2.6) 126.6 14.1 — 138.1 
Provision (benefit) for income taxes — 26.2 (10.1) — 16.1 

Net (loss) income before equity in earnings of subsidiaries (2.6) 100.4 24.2 — 122.0 

Equity in undistributed earnings of subsidiaries 124.6 — — (124.6) — 
Net income (loss) $ 122.0 $ 100.4 $ 24.2 $ (124.6) $ 122.0 

Dividends on preferred shares $ 7.9 $ — $ — $ — $ 7.9 
Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders $ 114.1 $ 100.4 $ 24.2 $ (124.6) $ 114.1 

Includes all other subsidiaries of Argo Group International Holdings, Ltd. and all intercompany eliminations.
Includes all Argo Group parent company eliminations.

Recent Accounting Standards and Critical Accounting Estimates

New Accounting Standards

The discussion of the adoption and pending adoption of recently issued accounting policies is included in Note 2, “Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements,” in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Part I, Item 1 - “Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited).”

Critical Accounting Estimates

Refer to “Critical Accounting Estimates” in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 that Argo Group filed with the SEC on March 15, 2021 for information on accounting policies that we consider critical in preparing our consolidated financial
statements. These policies include significant estimates made by management using information available at the time the estimates were made. However, these estimates could change materially if different information or assumptions were used.

(1)

(2)
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We believe that we are principally exposed to four types of market risk: interest rate risk, credit risk, equity price risk and foreign currency risk.

Interest Rate Risk

Our primary market risk exposure is the exposure of our fixed maturity investment portfolio to interest rate risk and the changes in interest rates. Fluctuations in interest rates have a direct impact on the fair value of these securities. As interest rates rise, the fair value of our fixed maturity
portfolio falls and the converse is also true. We manage interest rate risk through an active portfolio management strategy that involves the selection of investments with appropriate characteristics such as duration, yield, currency and liquidity that are tailored to the anticipated cash outflow
characteristics of our liabilities. A significant portion of our investment portfolio matures each year, allowing for reinvestment at current market rates. The model duration of the assets comprising our fixed maturity investment portfolio was 3.00 years and 2.78 years at September 30, 2021 and
December 31, 2020, respectively.

Credit Risk

We have exposure to credit risk on losses recoverable from reinsurers and receivables from insureds. Our controls to mitigate this risk include limiting our exposure to any one counterparty, evaluating the financial strength of our reinsurers, generally requiring minimum credit ratings and in
certain cases receiving collateral from our reinsurers and insureds.

We also have exposure to credit risk in our investment holdings. Our risk management strategy and investment policy attempts to mitigate this risk by primarily investing in debt instruments of high credit quality issuers, limiting credit concentration, monitoring the credit quality of issuers and
counterparties and diversifying issuers. The weighted average rating of our fixed maturity investments was A+ with 90.6% and 91.2% rated investment grade or better (BBB- or higher) at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively.

We review our investments to identify and evaluate those that  may have credit  impairments  on a quarterly basis,  considering the historical  performance of the security,  available market  information,  and credit  ratings,  among other things.  For fixed maturity securities,  the review includes
consideration of current ratings and actions of major rating agencies (Standard & Poor's, Moody's and Fitch). If a security has two ratings, the lower rating is used. If a security has three ratings, the middle rating is used. The following table reflects the credit quality of our fixed maturity
portfolio at September 30, 2021:
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Other Fixed Maturities Book Value Fair Value
AAA $ 553.5 $ 560.8 
AA 301.7 306.6
A 800 816.4
BBB 774.9 789.5
BB/B 250.4 252.7
CCC and Below 24.3 21.4
Unrated 95.4 90.6

Other Fixed Maturities $ 2,800.2 $ 2,838.0 

Structured Securities Book Value Fair Value
AAA $ 1,119.5 $ 1,131.8 
AA 82.7 85.1
A 69.8 69.5
BBB 43.5 43.3
BB/B 18.7 18.8
CCC and Below 0.4 0.5
Unrated 10.4 10.3

Structured Securities $ 1,345.0 $ 1,359.3 

Total Fixed Maturities Book Value Fair Value
AAA $ 1,673.0 $ 1,692.6 
AA 384.4 391.7
A 869.8 885.9
BBB 818.4 832.8
BB/B 269.1 271.5
CCC and Below 24.7 21.9
Unrated 105.8 100.9

Total Fixed Maturities $ 4,145.2 $ 4,197.3 

Our portfolio also includes alternative investments  with a carrying value at  September 30,  2021 and December 31,  2020 of $425.8 million and $429.4 million (8.0% and 8.2% of total  invested assets),  respectively.  We may invest  in both long and short  equities,  corporate debt securities,
currencies, real estate, commodities and derivatives. We attempt to mitigate our risk by selecting managers with extensive experience, proven track records and robust controls and processes. We also attempt to mitigate our risk by diversifying through multiple managers and different types of
assets and asset classes.

Equity Price Risk

We hold a diversified portfolio of equity securities with a fair value of $181.8 million and $176.7 million (3.4% and 3.4% of total invested assets) at September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively. Our equity securities are exposed to equity price risk which is defined as the potential
for loss in fair value due to a decline in equity prices. We believe the diversification of our equity securities among various industries, market segments and issuers, as well as the use of multiple outside investment managers, mitigates our exposure to equity price risk.  
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Foreign Currency Risk

We have exposure to foreign currency risk in our insurance contracts, invested assets and to a lesser extent, a portion of our debt. We attempt to manage our foreign currency risk by seeking to match our liabilities under insurance and reinsurance contracts that are payable in currencies other
than the U.S. Dollar with cash and investments that are denominated in such currencies. We also use foreign exchange forward contracts to attempt to mitigate this risk. We recognized gains in the investment portfolio of $0.2 million and $11.5 million for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2021 from movements in foreign currency rates. We recognized losses in the investment portfolio of $8.7 million and $6.2 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 from movements in foreign currency rates. We recognized losses of $4.2 million and $7.8
million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 on our foreign currency forward contracts. We recognized gains of $1.4 million and losses of $0.8 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 on our foreign currency forward contracts.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Argo Group, under the supervision and with the participation of its management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this
report. Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“Exchange Act”), defines “disclosure controls and procedures” as controls and procedures “designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the issuer in the reports it files or submits under the
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the Commission’s rules and forms.” Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the disclosure controls and procedures were not effective
as of December 31, 2020, and continue to be not effective as of September 30, 2021, because of the material weakness in internal control over financial reporting, as further described under “Remediation” below.

There were no changes in internal control over financial reporting made during the quarter ended September 30, 2021 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting, other than the remediation efforts described below.

Remediation

Please refer to Part II, Item 9A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 filed with the SEC on March 15, 2021 for a description of our remediation plan to address the material weakness identified during our audit of internal controls for the year then ended.
The weakness will not be considered remediated, until the applicable controls operate for a sufficient period of time and management has concluded, through testing, that these controls are operating effectively. We expect that the remediation of this material weakness will be completed prior to
the end of 2021.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Throughout this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, unless the context otherwise requires, references to “Argo Group,” “Argo,” “we,” “us,” “our” or the “Company” mean Argo Group International Holdings, Ltd. and all of its subsidiaries, taken together as a whole.

Item 1.  Legal Proceedings

Other

We and our subsidiaries are parties to legal actions from time to time, generally incidental to our and their business. While any litigation or arbitration proceedings include an element of uncertainty, management believes that the resolution of these matters will not materially affect our financial
condition or results of operations.

Item 1A.  Risk Factors

See “Part I, Item 1A—Risk Factors” of Argo Group’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 for a detailed discussion of the additional risk factors affecting the Company.
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Item 2.  Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

Issuer Purchase of Equity Securities

On May 3, 2016, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $150.0 million of our common shares. The 2016 Repurchase Authorization supersedes all the previous Repurchase Authorizations.

From January 1, 2021 through September 30, 2021, we did not repurchase any of our common shares. Since the inception of the repurchase authorizations (including those purchased under the 2016 Repurchase Authorization) through September 30, 2021, we have repurchased 11,315,889 of our
common shares at an average price of $40.22 for a total cost of $455.1 million. These shares are being held as treasury shares in accordance with the provisions of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981. As of September 30, 2021, availability under the 2016 Repurchase Authorization for future
repurchases of our common shares was $53.3 million.

Employees are allowed to surrender shares to settle the tax liability incurred upon the vesting or exercise of shares under our various employee equity compensation plans. For the three months ended September 30, 2021, we received 5,763 common shares, with an average price paid per share
of $52.90 that were surrendered by employees in payment for the minimum required withholding taxes. The following table provides information with respect to our common shares that were surrendered during the three months ended September 30, 2021. In the below table, these shares are
included in columns (a) and (b), but excluded from columns (c) and (d). These shares do not reduce the number of shares that may yet be purchased under the repurchase plan.

Period Total Number of Shares Surrendered (a) Average Price Paid per Share (b)
Total Number of Shares Purchased as Part of

Publicly Announced Plan or Program (c)

Approximate Dollar Value of Shares That
May Yet Be Purchased Under the Plan or

Program (d)
July 1 through July 31, 2021 — $ — — $ 53,281,805 
August 1 through August 31, 2021 339 $ 52.07 — $ 53,281,805 
September 1 through September 30, 2021 5,424 $ 52.95 — $ 53,281,805 

Total 5,763 — 

Item 3.  Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.

Item 4.  Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.

Item 5.  Other Information

None.
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Item 6.  Exhibits

A list of exhibits required to be filed as part of this report is set forth in the below Exhibit Index.

EXHIBIT
Exhibit 
Number

 
Description

10.1 Separation Agreement and General Release between Argo Management Services, Inc. and Timothy Carter, dated August 27, 2021 
10.2 Separation Agreement by and between Matthew Harris and Argo Management Services Limited dated August 9, 2021(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Argo Group International Holdings, Ltd.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission on August 12, 2021) 
31.1  Rule 13a – 14(a)/15d – 14(a) Certification of the Chief Executive Officer
31.2  Rule 13a – 14(a)/15d – 14(a) Certification of the Chief Financial Officer
32.1  Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.2  Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
101.INS  Inline XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document).

† A management contract or compensatory plan required to be filed herewith.
* Certain schedules have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K. A copy of any omitted schedule will be furnished supplementally to the SEC upon request.

†

*†
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

 ARGO GROUP INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS, LTD.
   

November 8, 2021 By /s/ Kevin J. Rehnberg
  Kevin J. Rehnberg
  President and Chief Executive Officer
   

November 8, 2021 By /s/ Scott Kirk
  Scott Kirk
  Chief Financial Officer
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1 SEPARATION AGREEMENT AND GENERAL RELEASE This SEPARATION AGREEMENT AND RELEASE (this “Agreement”) is entered into by and between Argonaut Management Services, Inc. (the “Company,” and together with its parents, subsidiaries and affiliates, the “Argo Group”) and Timothy Carter (“I” or “my” or “me”) (collectively, the “Parties”). The Parties agree as follows: I. Separation Benefits A. In General: My employment with the Company terminated on August 11, 2021 (“Termination Date”). As of the Termination Date, I have not represented and will not represent myself as being an employee, officer, attorney, agent, or representative of the Company for any purpose. The Company promises to pay me the amounts or benefits set forth in this Agreement, that are conditioned on my signing this Agreement no later than 21 days after I receive this Agreement (“Consideration Period”). This Agreement will be null and void if I do not sigh it on or before the expiration of the Consideration Period. B. Sufficiency of Consideration: I acknowledge and agree that the sums and benefits to be provided under the terms of the Agreement are, in significant and substantial part, in addition to anything of value to which I am otherwise entitled. C. Cash Payment: As consideration for signing and complying with the terms of this Agreement at all times, and subject to Section 7.01 of the Argo Group International Holdings, Ltd. Executive Severance Plan (the “Severance Plan”), I will receive a lump sum payment in the gross amount of $375,000, less all required local, state, and federal tax deductions, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, within thirty days after the expiration of the Revocation Period (defined below). D. Compensation and Benefit Plans: I agree and acknowledge that I have received all compensation due to me through my Termination Date. As of the Termination Date, I ceased to be eligible to participate under any applicable stock option, bonus, incentive compensation, commission, medical, dental, life insurance, retirement, and other compensation or benefit plans of the Company following my termination of employment per plan terms. Thereafter, I acknowledge that I have no rights under any of those plans, except as follows: i. As consideration for signing and complying with this Agreement at all times, and subject to Section 7.01 of the Severance Plan, I shall be entitled a lump sum cash payment equal to the amount of the annual cash incentive payment I would have been entitled under the Company’s annual cash incentive plan for calendar year 2021 (the “Performance Period”) but for my
termination, prorated for the number of days I was employed by the Company during the Performance Period. This amount shall be paid to on the date on which the Company pays such incentive payment to other employees for the Performance Period. ii. Any sponsored medical and/or dental, vision, flexible spending plans, or



 

2 Employee Assistance Program (EAP) benefits will end on 31 August 2021. iii. As consideration for signing and complying with this Agreement at all times, if I elect to continue my employer-sponsored medical, dental, vision, flexible spending plans, or EAPs benefits via the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA): a) My monthly premium for the Argo Group – sponsored medical and/or dental plan coverage through May 31, 2022 (“COBRA Contribution Period”) will continue to be equal to the bi- weekly payroll deductions that active employees pay, converted to a monthly amount. Thereafter, I will be responsible for the full COBRA premium to continue coverage. b) If I am not eligible for COBRA, become ineligible, or fail to make timely elections and payments as required for coverage continuation under COBRA, my coverage will end. c) The tobacco user surcharge, and the wellness surcharge for failure to participate in a remediation program if I missed the markers, will not be added to the COBRA premium. d) The reduced premium will only be available for the medical, and dental, vision, or flex spending plans in which I am enrolled upon my termination of employment, and family members enrolled as of my date of termination of employment as long as they remain eligible. e) The EAP may also be continued through COBRA – at no cost to me – during the COBRA Contribution Period. iv. I will have the right to COBRA continuation coverage as to any Company- provided medical, dental, vision, or flexible spending plans, or Employee Assistance Program (EAP) benefits in which I participate, which means that I will be entitled to buy continued health plan coverage under the normal COBRA health care continuation rules and plan terms. v. I will retain my vested benefits under all applicable qualified and non-qualified retirement plans of the Company, and all rights associated with such benefits, as determined under plan terms. I understand that due to my departure from the Company, I will forfeit any unvested Long Term Incentive or other shares, or the right to any cash payment in lieu of those shares, in accordance with the Long Term Incentive Plan documents. E. Outplacement Services: As consideration for signing and complying with this Agreement at all times, I will be eligible to participate in the Company's Outplacement Service Program provided by a third-party provider, Lee Hecht Harrison (LHH). I will be eligible to participate in LHH Select Program, which will teach me effective job search strategies and techniques while providing the best tolls and resources available to assist me in my search. Services
help me conduct self-assessment, develop a career path, and are customized to my needs. Using Blended Learning model and the support of the Job Search Work Teams, I will customize my program to best suit my individual needs and learning styles, and



 

3 choose the components that are most appropriate for my transition for success. II. Complete Release A. In General: In exchange for the Company’s promises contained in this Agreement, I agree to irrevocably and unconditionally release any and all Claims that I may now have against the Company and other parties as set forth in this Section II. B. Released Parties: The Released Parties are the Company, the Argo Group entities, all related companies, partnerships, or joint ventures, and, with respect to each of them, their predecessors and successors; and, with respect to each such entity, all of its past and present employees, officers, directors, stockholders, owners, representatives, assigns, attorneys, agents, insurers, employee benefit programs (and the trustees, administrators, fiduciaries, and insurers of such programs), and any other persons acting by, through, under or in concert with any of the persons or entities listed in this subsection. C. Claims Released: I understand and agree that I am releasing all known and unknown claims, promises, demands, actions, causes of action, suits, damages, losses, expenses, of any and every nature whatsoever, or similar rights of any type that I may have (the “Claims”) against any Released Party, as a result of actions or omissions occurring through the date I sign this Agreement, except that I am not releasing any claim that relates to: (1) my right to enforce this Agreement; (2) my right, if any, to claim government-provided unemployment or workers’ compensation benefits, (3) any rights or claims which may arise or accrue after I sign this Agreement, or (4) any right that I cannot waive or release by law. I further understand that the Claims I am releasing may arise under many different laws (including statutes, regulations, other administrative guidance, and common law doctrines), including, but by no means limited to: the Age Discrimination in Employment Act (“ADEA”); the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act; Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964; the Civil Rights Act of 1866; the Americans With Disabilities Act; the Chicago Human Rights Ordinance; the Cook County Human Rights Ordinance; the Illinois Human Rights Act, as amended; the Illinois Right to Privacy in the Workplace Act; the Illinois Union Employee Health and Benefits Protection Act; the Illinois Employment Contract Act; the Illinois Labor Dispute Act; the Illinois Victims' Economic Security and Safety Act; the Illinois Equal Pay Act; the Illinois Constitution; and any other federal, state, or local laws restricting an employer’s right to terminate employees; or otherwise regulating employment, discrimination, retaliation, harassment, or failure
to accommodate; any federal, state, or local law enforcing express or implied employment contracts or requiring an employer to deal with employees fairly or in good faith; claims for wrongful discharge; negligence; negligent hiring; negligent supervision; negligent retention; physical or personal injury; emotional distress; duress; fraud; fraud in the inducement; negligent misrepresentation; defamation; invasion of privacy; interference with contract or with prospective economic advantage; breach of express or implied contract (including but not limited to any claims I may have, whether known or unknown, under the Severance Plan or any award agreements; breach of covenants of good faith and fair dealing; promissory estoppel; and similar or related claims. I acknowledge and agree that the released Claims include any that have been or may hereafter be asserted on my behalf in any class or collective



 

4 action relating to my employment and/or the termination of my employment with the Company (“Class/Collective Action”). Accordingly: (a) I waive any right to participate in any Class/Collective Action, including serving as a class representative or named plaintiff; and (b) I waive any right to receive notice of any pending or resolved Class/Collective Action. In the event that I am included or identified as a member or potential member of a class or collective in Class/Collective Action, I agree to (i) opt out of such proceeding after learning of my inclusion by executing without objection or delay any opt out form presented to me, and/or (ii) not to opt in to such proceeding. D. Unknown Claims: I understand that I am releasing Claims that I may not know about. That is my knowing and voluntary intent, even though I recognize that someday I might learn that some or all of the facts I currently believe to be true are untrue and even though I might then regret having signed this Agreement. Nevertheless, I am assuming that risk and I agree that this Agreement shall remain effective in all respects in any such case. I expressly waive all rights I might have under any law that is intended to protect me from waiving unknown claims. I understand the significance of doing so. E. Whistleblower Protections and Protected Rights: Nothing in this Agreement (including but not limited to the acknowledgements, claims released, return of Company property, non-disparagement, and confidentiality provision) (1) limits or affects my right to challenge the validity of this Agreement under the ADEA or the OWBPA, (2) prevents me from filing a charge or complaint with or from participating in an investigation or proceeding conducted by the Department of Justice, the Occupational Safety and Health Administration, Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, the National Labor Relations Board, the Securities and Exchange Commission, any Inspector General, or any other federal, state or local agency charged with the enforcement of any laws, including providing documents or any other information, (3) from reporting a possible violation of law to a government entity or law enforcement, including making a disclosure that is protected under the whistleblower protections of applicable law, or (4) precludes me from exercising my rights under Section 7 of the NLRA to engage in protected, concerted activity with other employees. I understand that I do not need the prior authorization of the Company to make any such reports or disclosures and I am not required to notify the Company that I have made such reports or disclosures. Notwithstanding the foregoing, by signing this
Agreement I am waiving my right to recover any individual relief (including any backpay, frontpay, reinstatement or other legal or equitable relief) in any charge, complaint, or lawsuit or other proceeding brought by me or on my behalf by any third party, except for any right I may have to receive a payment or award from a government agency (and not the Company) for information provided to the government agency or where otherwise prohibited. III. Promises, Warranties, and Representations A. Employment Termination: I understand and agree that I am separated from service and my employment with the Company ended forever on my Termination



 

5 Date. I also understand and agree that I have no right of rehire or reinstatement with any Released Party, regardless of location, and that the Released Parties are under no obligation to rehire or reinstate me. I also acknowledge and understand that the failure of a Released Party to rehire or reinstate me is contractual and not unlawful discrimination or retaliation. I acknowledge that I have (1) received all compensation due me as a result of services performed for the Company with the receipt of my final paycheck; (2) reported to the Company any and all work-related injuries or occupational disease incurred by me during my employment by the Company; (3) been properly provided any leave requested under the FMLA or similar state local laws and have not been subjected to any improper treatment, conduct or actions due to a request for or taking such leave; (4) had the opportunity to provide the Company with written notice of any and all concerns regarding suspected ethical and compliance issues or violations on the part of the Company or any other released person or entity; and (5) reported any pending judicial and administrative complaints, claims, or actions I filed against the Company or any other released person or entity; and (6) except as otherwise provided in this Agreement or provided by law, all other employment-related benefits terminated as of the Termination Date. I will not be entitled to compensation for any bonus plan, savings plan, incentive plan or benefit not specifically mentioned within this Agreement. B. Company Property: Before I am entitled to accept any monetary payments from the Company pursuant to this Agreement, I acknowledge my obligation to return, and shall return to the Company all files, memoranda, documents, records, electronic records, software, copies of the foregoing, credit cards, keys, computers, mobile devices and any other property of the Company or its affiliates in my possession. C. Pursuit of Released Claims: I affirm that I have not filed, have not caused to be filed, and am not presently party to, any actions, grievances, arbitrations, complaints, claims or other legal proceedings against or relating to any Released Party in any forum. I further agree and covenant that should any person, entity, organization, or federal, state or local governmental agency institute an investigation, action, grievance, arbitration, complaint, claim or other legal proceeding involving any matter encompassed by the release set forth in Section II, I shall not be entitled to recover and expressly waive any right to seek, accept or recover any monetary relief or other individual remedies. D. Taxes: I am responsible for paying any
taxes on amounts I receive because I signed this Agreement. I agree that the Company may withhold all taxes it determines it is legally required to withhold, except as expressly otherwise provided in Section I. Neither the Company nor any Released Party has made any representation about the tax consequences of any amount received by me pursuant to this Agreement, other than in this paragraph. E. Ownership of Claims: I have not assigned or transferred any Claim I am releasing, nor have I purported to do so. I understand and agree that in addition



 

6 to any other remedies, rights or defenses that may be available to the Released Parties by virtue of this Agreement or my breach hereof, I agree that I will pay the reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs, expenses and any damages the Released Parties incur as a result of my breach of this representation or if this representation was false when made. F. No Disparagement or Harm: I agree that I will not say anything about the Company or any Released Party that I know to be false or that I have no reason to believe is true. I understand that the Company values its reputation and reserves the right to take all appropriate legal action to preserve that reputation. G. Implementation: I agree to sign any documents and do anything else that is necessary in the future to implement this Agreement. H. Confidential Information: I understand and agree that as a condition of my entitlement to payments and benefits under this Agreement, I shall, upon the Separation Date, return all Company documents and information to Allison Kiene or her designee. In addition, I expressly recognize and acknowledge that during my employment with the Company, I was provided with confidential information and confidential documents concerning, notably, the Company and Argo Group and their respective directors, officers, employees, shareholders, business plans, financial information, portfolios, investments, clients, customers, business, strategies and activities (collectively, “Confidential Information”). I agree to maintain all Confidential Information, including but not limited to documents prepared by or at my direction in the course of my employment with the Company, as strictly confidential. I understand and agree that I shall not, at any time, without the prior written consent of Allison Kiene or her designee, disclose Confidential Information in any manner whatsoever, in whole or in part, or use it, directly or indirectly, for any purpose whatsoever at any time. I further understand and agree that the definition of Confidential Information shall be construed as broadly as possible, and, to the extent I am uncertain whether information or a document is Confidential Information, I will treat it as Confidential Information absent express written consent from Allison Kiene or her designee to disclose or otherwise use it. Nothing herein is intended to diminish the Company’s rights or my obligations under Section 6.01 of the Severance Plan, which such section is incorporated herein fully by reference and is not superseded or altered by this Agreement. I recognize and acknowledge that a breach of this Section III (I) will cause irreparable damage to the Company and/or Argo Group, the exact amount
of which will be difficult or impossible to ascertain, and that the remedies at law for any such breach will be inadequate. Accordingly, in the event of a breach or threatened breach of this Section III(I) by me, in addition to any other remedy that may be available at law or in equity (which any member of Argo Group expressly reserves the right to seek), any member of the Argo Group shall be entitled to specific performance and/or injunctive relief from a court of competent jurisdiction, without the requirement to post bond. For sake of clarity, each member of Argo Group is a third party beneficiary to this Section III(I). Notwithstanding any term of this Agreement, the Parties acknowledge that pursuant to 18 USC § 1833(b), I may not be held liable under any criminal or civil federal or state trade secret law for



 

7 disclosure of a trade secret: (A) made in confidence to a government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney, solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law or (B) in a complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal. Additionally, the Parties acknowledge that if I sue the Company for retaliation based on the reporting of a suspected violation of law, I may disclose a trade secret to my attorney and use the trade secret information in the court proceeding, so long as any document containing the trade secret is filed under seal and I do not disclose the trade secret except pursuant to court order. I. Post-Employment Obligations. I understand and acknowledge that any post- employment obligations, including but not limited to my non-solicitation and confidentiality obligations, and including specifically those set forth in Section 6.02 of the Severance Plan and Sections 7 and 8 of that certain Restricted Stock Award Agreement dated March 15, 2021, all of which are incorporated fully into, and not superseded by, this Agreement, remain in full force and effect. IV. Review and Revocation A. Review: I acknowledge that I was and am by this Agreement advised in writing to consult with an attorney prior to signing this Agreement. I further acknowledge that (1) I carefully read this Agreement; (2) I fully understand this Agreement; and (3) I am entering into this Agreement knowingly and voluntarily. I acknowledge that the Company encouraged me to discuss this Agreement with an attorney (at my own expense) before signing it, that I sought such advice to the extent I deemed appropriate, and that such review period began on my Termination Date. I agree with the Company that changes to the offer or the language in this Agreement, whether material or immaterial, do not restart the running of the Consideration Period. B. Consideration and Revocation Periods, Other Information: I acknowledge that I have 21 days to consider whether to sign this Agreement (the “Consideration Period”). I understand that I must return this signed Agreement to the Company’s representative, Human Resource Operations, Argo Group, PO Box 469012, San Antonio, TX 78246 210.321.8400 within the Consideration Period. If I choose to sign and return this Agreement before the end of the Consideration Period, it is because I freely chose to do so after carefully considering its terms. Additionally, I understand and acknowledge that I shall have seven (7) days from the date of the signing of this Agreement to revoke my release of ADEA claims (“Revocation Period”) by delivering a
written notice of such revocation within the Revocation Period to the company representative stated above. In the event of such revocation, the Company has the option at its discretion to treat this Agreement as null and void in its entirety. If the revocation period expires on a weekend or holiday, I will have until the end of the next business day to revoke. Any unauthorized modification or alteration of any terms of this Agreement by me voids this Agreement in its entirety. I acknowledge that this Agreement shall be deemed null and void in its entirety in the event that I fail to execute it on or before



 

8 September 1, 2021. V. Miscellaneous A. Entire Agreement: This is the entire Agreement between the Company and me. Any rights I may have had under any prior agreement between or directly involving the Company and me are superseded by this Agreement, except as specifically set forth herein and except that any prior agreements related to inventions, business ideas, confidentiality of corporate information, and unfair competition remain intact. This Agreement may not be modified or canceled (subject to the Parties’ revocation-related rights) in any manner except in writing signed by both an authorized Company official and me. I acknowledge that the Company has made no representations or promises to me other than those in this Agreement. If any provision in this Agreement is found to be unenforceable, all other provisions will remain fully enforceable. The provisions of this Agreement are severable, and if any part of this Agreement except Section II is found by a court of law to be unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement will continue to be valid and effective. B. Successors: This Agreement binds my heirs, administrators, representatives, executors, successors, and assigns, and will inure to the benefit of all Released Parties and their respective heirs, administrators, representatives, executors, successors, and assigns. C. Interpretation: This Agreement shall be construed as a whole according to its fair meaning. It shall not be construed strictly for or against me or any Released Party. Unless the context indicates otherwise, the singular or plural number shall be deemed to include the other. Captions are intended solely for convenience of reference and shall not be used in the interpretation of this Agreement. D. Non-Admission: That Parties agree that this Agreement, and compliance with this Agreement, shall not be construed as an admission by the Company of any liability whatsoever, or as an admission by the Company of any violation of my rights or the rights of any person. The Company specifically disclaims any liability to me or any other person, or for any alleged violation of any order, law, statute, duty, or contract on the part of the Company or the Released Parties. E. Section 409A: I acknowledge and agree that: (1) the Company intends that the payments and benefits provided under this Agreement shall either be exempt from the application of, or comply with, the requirements of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and this Agreement shall be construed in a manner that effectuates this intent. Neither the Company nor its respective directors, officers, employees or advisers (other than me)
shall be held liable for any taxes, interest, penalties or other monetary amounts owed by me as a result of this Agreement. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, I understand and agree that the Company may amend this Agreement, to take effect retroactively or otherwise, as deemed necessary or advisable for the purpose of remaining exempt from or complying with the requirements of Section 409A of the Code and the administrative regulations and rulings promulgated thereunder; (2) in the event that, notwithstanding the clear language of this



 

9 Agreement and the intent of the Company, any amount or benefit under this Agreement constitutes non-exempt “deferred compensation” for purposes of Section 409A of the Code (“Non-Exempt Deferred Compensation”) and is payable or distributable by reason of my separation from service during a period in which I qualify as a “specified employee” (as defined in Section 409A of the Code and the final regulations thereunder), then, subject to any permissible acceleration of payment under Section 409A of the Code: (a) the amount of such Non-Exempt Deferred Compensation that would otherwise be payable during the six-month period immediately following my separation from service under the terms of this Agreement shall be accumulated through and paid or provided on the first day of the seventh month following my separation from service (or, if I die during such period, within thirty (30) days after my death) (in either case, the “Required Delay Period”); and (b) the normal payment or distribution schedule for any remaining payments or distributions shall resume at the end of the Required Delay Period; (3) to the extent that any right to reimbursement of expenses or payment of any benefit in-kind under this Agreement constitutes Non-Exempt Deferred Compensation, (a) any such expense reimbursement shall be made by the Company no later than the last day of the taxable year following the taxable year in which such expense was incurred by me, (b) the right to reimbursement or in- kind benefits shall not be subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit, and (iii) the amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement or in-kind benefits provided during any taxable year shall not affect the expenses eligible for reimbursement or in-kind benefits to be provided in any other taxable year. F. Section 280G: The Parties acknowledge and agree that, notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, their respective rights and obligations under Section 4.03 of the Severance Plan shall survive and remain in full force and effect following my termination of employment. G. Governing Law and Enforcement: This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of New York, without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of law provision or rule (whether of the State of New York or any other jurisdiction) that would cause the application of the laws of any jurisdiction other than the State of New York. I hereby: (i) irrevocably submit to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of any state or federal court of competent jurisdiction sitting in the State of New York in any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement; and (ii)
agree that all claims in respect of such action or proceeding may be heard or determined in any such court. I hereby waive irrevocably any defense of inconvenient forum to the maintenance of any action or proceeding so brought. H. Form of Agreement and Executed Counterparts: The Parties agree that facsimile, scanned, PDF or email copies of this Agreement shall be considered as a legal original and signatures thereon shall be legal and binding, and that this Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original but all of which shall constitute one and the same instrument. I. Amendment; Waiver: I acknowledge and agree that except as set forth in Section V(E), this Agreement shall not be amended, altered or modified except by an instrument in writing duly executed by the Party against whom enforcement is sought. Neither the waiver by either of the Parties hereto of a breach of or a default



 

10 under any of the provisions of this Agreement, nor the failure of either of the Parties, on one or more occasions, to enforce any of the provisions of this Agreement or to exercise any right or privilege hereunder, shall thereafter be construed as a waiver of any subsequent breach or default of a similar nature, or as a waiver of any such provisions, rights or privileges hereunder. J. Cooperation: I agree that after the Termination Date, I will make myself available, upon reasonable notice and under reasonable conditions, to respond to inquiries and requests for information and assist the Company in any capacity with respect to matters of which I was involved or had knowledge as a result of my employment with the Company, including, but not limited to, providing information in connection with the Company’s operations. I further agree to provide reasonable assistance to the Company and its respective representatives in defense of any claims that have been or may be made against the Company, and will assist the Company in the prosecution of any claims that have been or may be made by the Company, to the extent that such claims may relate to the period of my employment with the Company. My assistance shall include but not be limited to cooperating and meeting with, and providing information to, counsel of the Company and providing honest and truthful testimony. The Parties agree that upon presentation of appropriate documentation, the Company shall pay or reimburse me for all reasonable out-of- pocket travel, duplicating or telephonic expenses incurred by me in complying with this paragraph. The Parties further agree that to the extent that I am required to spend substantial time on such matters, the Company shall compensate me at an hourly rate based on my base salary (or actual hourly rate as the case may be) in effect on the Termination Date.



 

11 Signed and agreed on the date indicated: Timothy Carter Argonaut Management Services, Inc. Date: _ By: _ Title: Date: TAKE THIS AGREEMENT HOME, READ IT, AND CAREFULLY CONSIDER ALL OF ITS PROVISIONS BEFORE SIGNING IT. IT INCLUDES A RELEASE OF KNOWN AND UNKNOWN CLAIMS. IF YOU WISH, YOU SHOULD TAKE ADVANTAGE OF THE FULL CONSIDERATION PERIOD AFFORDED BY SECTION IV AND CONSULT YOUR ATTORNEY. /s/ Timothy Carter /s/ Tony Cicio Tony Cicio8/27/21 8/27/21 Chief Human Resources Offer



 



Exhibit 31.1

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer

I, Kevin J. Rehnberg, President and Chief Executive Officer of Argo Group International Holdings, Ltd., certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Argo Group International Holdings, Ltd.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
  
Date: November 8, 2021  /s/ Kevin J. Rehnberg
  Kevin J. Rehnberg
  President and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)
Certification of the Chief Financial Officer

I, Scott Kirk, Chief Financial Officer of Argo Group International Holdings, Ltd., certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Argo Group International Holdings, Ltd.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
  
Date: November 8, 2021  /s/ Scott Kirk
  Scott Kirk
  Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

Certification of CEO Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as Adopted Pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Argo Group International Holdings, Ltd. (the “Company”) for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2021 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), Kevin J. Rehnberg, as President and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of his knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
* * *

  
Certified this 8th day of November 2021  /s/ Kevin J. Rehnberg
  Kevin J. Rehnberg
  President and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 32.2

Certification of CFO Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as Adopted Pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Argo Group International Holdings, Ltd. (the “Company”) for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2021 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), Scott Kirk, as Chief Financial
Officer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that, to the best of his knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
* * *

Certified this 8th day of November 2021  /s/ Scott Kirk
  Scott Kirk
  Chief Financial Officer


